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Part I 
Federal Award Programs 



PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 569 Brookwood Village, Suite 851, Birmingham, AL  35209
T: (205) 414 4000, www.pwc.com/us

Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the 
business-type activities and the discretely presented component unit of The University of Alabama in 
Huntsville (the “University”), a campus of The University of Alabama System, a component unit of 
the State of Alabama, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, including the related notes 
(collectively referred to as the “basic financial statements”), and have issued our report thereon dated
January 31, 2024. Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial
statements of The University of Alabama in Huntsville Foundation (the “Foundation”), as described 
in our report on the University’s basic financial statements. The financial statements of the 
Foundation were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, and accordingly, 
this report does not include reporting on internal control over financial reporting or compliance and 
other matters associated with the Foundation or that are reported on separately by those auditors 
who audited the financial statements of the Foundation. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the basic financial statements, we considered the 
University’s internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on 
the basic financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the University’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of
the University’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit 
attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that have not been identified. We identified a certain deficiency in internal control, 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2023-001 that we 
consider to be a material weakness.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the University’s basic financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
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laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the basic financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with 
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

The University’s Response to Findings

Government Auditing Standards requires us to perform limited procedures on the University's 
response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs. The University’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the 
response.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
University’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

January 31, 2024



PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 569 Brookwood Village, Suite 851, Birmingham, AL  35209 
T: (205) 414 4000, www.pwc.com/us 

Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance for Each Major Program; on Internal 
Control Over Compliance; and on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

Required by Uniform Guidance 

To the Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program      

We have audited The University of Alabama in Huntsville’s (the “University”), a campus of The 
University of Alabama System, a component unit of the State of Alabama, compliance with the types 
of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that 
could have a direct and material effect on each of the University’s major federal programs for the year 
ended September 30, 2023. The University’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of 
auditor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.   

In our opinion, the University complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended September 30, 2023.   

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America (US GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). 
Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the University and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 
University’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the University’s federal programs. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the University’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
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assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with US GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always 
detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance 
resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material if there is 
a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made 
by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the University’s compliance with the 
requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance, we: 

● Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
● Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the University’s compliance with the
compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.

● Obtain an understanding of the University’s internal control over compliance relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Other Matters 

As indicated in Part I to the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs, we have 
audited the Student Financial Assistance cluster as a major program. Also, as indicated in the first 
paragraph of this report, we performed our audit of compliance using the compliance requirements 
contained in the OMB Compliance Supplement, including those contained in Part V 5.3, Compliance 
Requirement N, Special Tests and Provisions, Section 12 “Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act-Student 
Information Security.” This section includes two suggested audit procedures with respect to 
verification that the institution (1) designated a Qualified Individual responsible for implementing 
and monitoring the institution’s information security program, and (2) has a written information 
security program that addresses the remaining six required minimum elements that are detailed in 
the OMB Compliance Supplement, Part Five, Student Financial Assistance Cluster, Special Tests and 
Provisions, item 12, Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act – Student Information Security. Our procedures in 
relation to these two items were limited to inquiry of and obtaining written representation from 
management and obtaining and reading management’s documentation related to these two items. 
Our procedures did not include an analysis of the adequacy or completeness of the minimum 
required elements of the institution’s information security program. 

The results of our auditing procedures disclosed instances of noncompliance, which are required to 
be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which are described in the accompanying 
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schedule of findings and questioned costs as items 2023-002 and 2023-003. Our opinion on each 
major federal program is not modified with respect to these matters.   

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the 
University's response to the noncompliance findings identified in our audit described in the 
accompanying management’s views and corrective action plan. The University's response was not 
subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we 
express no opinion on the response. 

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.    

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify 
all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses, as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements 
of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform 
Guidance  

We have audited the financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely presented 
component unit of the University as of and for the year ended September 30, 2023, including the 
related notes (collectively referred to as the “basic financial statements”). We issued our report 
thereon dated January 31, 2024, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
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records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as 
a whole.

June 18, 2024, except with respect to the opinion on the supplemental schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards, as to which the date is January 31, 2024



The University of Alabama in Huntsville 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Contract/Award or Pass-Through Assistance Listing Federal Passed to
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Entity Identifying Number Number Expenditures Subrecipients  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule. 
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Research and Development Cluster:
U.S. Department of Agriculture:
Partnership Agreements 20-CS-11100500-055 10. 699 1,958$            -$  
Pass-Through Funds:

Auburn University 18-ACES-374468-UAH 10.904 233,059 -
Auburn University 23-CSES-203942-UAH 10.904 29,425 -

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 264,442 -

U.S. Department of Commerce:
Broad Agency Announcement NA21OAR4590323 11.015 750,570 -
Climate and Atmospheric Research NA23OAR4310191 11.431 30,000 -
Weather and Air Quality Research NA20OAR4590495 11.459 218,257 -
Weather and Air Quality Research NA23OAR4590380 11.459 3,655 -
Weather and Air Quality Research NA23OAR4590590 11.459 2,881 -
Measurement and Engineering Research and Standards 60NANB22D174 11.609 240,669 -

1,246,032 -

Pass-Through Funds:
University of Maryland 117523-Z7554217 11.432 66,445 -
Mississippi State University 191001.363548.01 11.432 125,075 -
Mississippi State University 191001.361473.07 11.432 57,328 -
University of Alabama A22-0309-S004 11.432 150,889 -
University of Alabama A22-0310-S003 11.432 234,713 -
Mississippi State University A23-0264-S001 11.459 233 -
Alabama Technology Network AGR DTD: 10/1/2021 11.611 2,445 -
Alabama Technology Network AGR DTD: 10/1/2022 11.611 207,742 20,000
AirMettle AIRMETTLE 20203-001 11.RD 1,529 -

846,399 20,000
Total U.S. Department of Commerce 2,092,431 20,000

U.S. Department of Defense:
Basic and Applied Scientific Research N00174-23-1-0006 12.300 38,859 -
Basic and Applied Scientific Research N00244-20-2-0004 12.300 (2,505) -
Basic and Applied Scientific Research N00244-21-2-0004 12.300 47,321 -
Basic and Applied Scientific Research N6227122RC06XA1 12.300 70,517 -
Basic Scientific Research W911NF1920209 12.431 105,524 -
Basic Scientific Research W911NF2110300 12.431 23,805 -
Basic Scientific Research W911NF2120067 12.431 8,130 -
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Economic Adjustment Assistance for State Governments HQ00052010026 12.617 2,410 -
Economic Adjustment Assistance for State Governments HQ00052210027 12.617 112,543 -
Air Force Defense Research Sciences Program FA9550-19-1-0027 12.800 28,104 -
Air Force Defense Research Sciences Program FA9550-22-1-0131 12.800 50,201 -
Air Force Defense Research Sciences Program FA9550-23-1-0371 12.800 44,654 -
DoD CySP, Cyber Scholarship Program H98230-22-1-0237 12.902 213,546 -
GenCyber Grants Program H98230-22-1-0107 12.903 140,646 -
CyberSecurity Core Curriculum H98230-21-1-0169 12.905 181,566 -
Department of the Army 12.RD 270,654 -
Department of the Army 12.RD 360,411 -
Department of the Army 12.RD 9,806,239 -
Department of the Army 12.RD 2,602,713 -
Department of the Army 12.RD 9,370,890 4,669,485
Department of the Army 12.RD 298,567 -
Department of the Army 12.RD 381,006 -
Missile Defense Agency 12.RD 520,545 -
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 12.RD 77,696 -

24,754,042 4,669,485

Pass-Through Funds:
University of Alabama 12.002 81,462 -
Marshall University 12.431 239,428 -
Northeastern University 12.431 119,760 -
Missouri University of Science and Technology 12.431 138,925 -
University of New Mexico 12.431 67,422 -
University of Illinois 12.630 3,810 -
University of Central Florida 12.800 62,622 -
University of Central Florida 12.800 9,408 -
National Center for Defense Manufacturing and Machining 12.800 23,291 -
National Cryptologic Museum Found 12.902 11,025 -
Moraine Valley Community College

IPA FOR ADAM MADDOX FY21 
IPA FOR WILLIAM GASS FY22 
W31P4Q-15-D-0062 
W9113M-18-C-0004 
W9113M22D0061
WOWFAA-IGSA-A60SF-22-001 
W911NF2320045 
HQ086022C6002 
W912HQ21P0098

A22-0407-S003
R2301725
555080-78056
00075943-01
023400-879S
110303-19494
16246080-03
GR100331
PO 20230107
SA20137
06-81-4134-5309004A 12.905 148,236 -

University of Colorado Colorado Springs 20-144-13 12.905 138,098 -
Georgia Institute of Technology D8458-S3 12.RD 226,968 -
Northeastern University 555092-78053 12.RD 464,800 -
Stevens Inst. of Technology 2103060-01 12.RD 196,817 -
Stevens Inst. of Technology 2103221-16 12.RD 17,321 -
Stevens Inst. of Technology 2103257-08 12.RD 26,949 -
Stevens Inst. of Technology 2103269-02 12.RD 118,792 -
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Tuskegee University 30 22410 101 76190 12.RD 24,220 -
University of Florida SUB00001807 12.RD (1,199) -
University of South Florida 1776-1084-00-E 12.RD 22,482 -
AASKI Technology, Inc. 20-029 12.RD 9,373 -
AASKI Technology, Inc. 22-038 12.RD 164,555 -
Adventium Labs SUBCONTRACT 1090-0001-001-008 12.RD 111,568 -
Aviation & Missile Solutions LLC AMS-SC-06-079 12.RD 258,416 -
Agile Defense Inc. UAH-03725 12.RD 83,964 -
Agile Defense Inc. UNI-03725 12.RD 45,387 -
Alabama Military Stability Foundation MSF DRAFT-09.16.2021 12.RD 31,806 -
Arcarithms A00000139 12.RD 265,485 -
Axient Corporation PO 00005474 12.RD 13,330 -
Booz Allen Hamilton Inc. A21113 12.RD 309,330 -
KBR Wyle Services, LLC HVS7561527 12.RD 407,594 -
KBR Wyle Services, LLC HVS7562159 12.RD 263,852 -
KBR Wyle Services, LLC HVS7562201 12.RD 1,593,606 -
Colsa Corporation HS-170109 12.RD 18,908 -
Colsa Corporation HS-170302 12.RD 1,025,873 -
Colsa Corporation HS-170318 12.RD 307,820 -
Colsa Corporation OTA 17025001 12.RD 743,180 -
CybEx, LLC CBX-SC-22-100 12.RD 95,182 -
Defense, Energy, Space, and Environment Research, Inc. DESE-23-003 12.RD 178,776 -
Digiflight Incorporated DFI-AE-UAH-20190418 12.RD 348,848 -
Dynetics DI-SC-20-146 12.RD 729,872 -
Dynetics DI-SC-21-81 12.RD 164,871 -
ERC, Inc. RWES170002 12.RD 1,029,138 -
FreEnt Technologies Inc. PO HQ7332-1-2018 12.RD 104,350 -
Hill Technical Solutions PO 0000000242 12.RD 74,451 -
Griffiss Institute SA10012023040674 12.RD 242,600 -
IronMountain Solutions Inc. AE-20-1020-S13_AE-T-1040-S10 12.RD 515,803 -
Interactive Process Technology, LLC IPTA-SK-22-007 12.RD 2,756,743 -
Intuitive Research and Technology Corporation AE-P-UAH-003 12.RD 247,165 -
Intuitive Research and Technology Corporation AE-T-UAH-001 12.RD 4,132,787 -
Intuitive Research and Technology Corporation AE-T-UAH-002 12.RD 70,235 -
Intuitive Research and Technology Corporation AE-T-UAH-003 12.RD 967,677 -
Intuitive Research and Technology Corporation TE-T-UAH-001 12.RD (4,437) -
Intuitive Research and Technology Corporation TE-T-UAH-002 12.RD 20,621 -
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Jacobs Technology IR20211010 12.RD 160,385 -
Kearfott Corporation A196218 12.RD 4,850 -
Lockheed Martin PO 4105088920 12.RD 43,898 -
Leidos Inc. P010290704 12.RD 64,742 -
Lunar Resources, Inc. 2022-1375 12.RD 61,287 -
MACRO industries, Inc. MACRO-UAH 2022-001 12.RD 72,305 -
Management Technology Associates, Inc. PEXP20-01-UAH 12.RD 967,838 -
Northrop Grumman Computing Systems, Inc 5300032416 12.RD 290,407 -
Northrop Grumman Computing Systems, Inc 5300038937 12.RD 173,187 -
Northrop Grumman Computing Systems, Inc 7500174592 12.RD 9,596 -
Northrop Grumman Computing Systems, Inc 7500174479 12.RD 92,097 -
OptTek Systems, Inc. CO. NO. 2022-1555 12.RD 67,824 -
PeopleTec AMTC-OTA-SMART-UAH 12.RD 278,652 -
Piasecki Aircraft Corporation PO 82872 12.RD 261,189 -
PPT Solutions AEDUAH-SUB-UAH01 12.RD 22,916 -
Radiance Technologies 20S-1505 12.RD (4,082) -
Radiance Technologies 22S-0133 12.RD 39,753 -
Radiance Technologies 22S-2139 12.RD 420,413 -
Radiance Technologies 22S-2617 12.RD 176,572 -
S3 S46-T004-12 12.RD 123,131 -
S3 2131B00314 12.RD 81,096 -
Science Applications International Corporation B00107 12.RD 462,664 -
Science Applications International Corporation B00869 12.RD 2,239,030 -
System Dynamics International Inc. 8223-005 12.RD 14,892 -
Simulation Technologies Inc. SIM-AP-19-0033 12.RD 16,253 -
Torch Technologies T18S052 12.RD 3,750,569 -
Torch Technologies T19S046 12.RD 1,722,156 -
Torch Technologies MSA UAH 002 12.RD 221,619 -
Torch Technologies T230134 12.RD 145,217 -
Torch Technologies T23S005 12.RD 50,549 -
Torch Technologies T23S016 12.RD 150,042 -
Tyonek Manufacturing Group Inc. TGS200010 12.RD 161,864 -
National Center for Defense Manufacturing and Machining P.O. 20220092 12.RD 12,403 -
National Center for Defense Manufacturing and Machining P.O. 20220095 12.RD 56,352 -
National Center for Defense Manufacturing and Machining P.O. 20200026 12.RD 58,054 -
National Center for Defense Manufacturing and Machining NCDMM-UAH-2019-01 12.RD 11,089 -
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Quadrus Corporation QAM-7606 12.RD 21,636 -
Quadrus Corporation QAM_UAH_2022-01 12.RD 42,066 -

32,013,877 -
Total U.S. Department of Defense 56,767,919 4,669,485

Department of Interior:
Pass-Through Funds:

Alabama Department of Conservation and Natural Resources DNCR MOA 3/30/2022 15.615 2,557 -
Tennessee Wildlife Resources Agency EDISON ID 73547 15.615 17,953 -
North Carolina State University 2022-2678-01 15.820 56,873 -

Total U.S. Department of the Interior 77,383 -

U.S. Department of Justice:
Federal Bureau of Investigation INVOICE #2019-766 16.RD (893) -

Pass-Through Funds:
Florida State University R000002973 16.560 95,739 -
Purdue University 19200263-013 16.560 103,878 -

199,617 -
Total U.S. Department of Justice 198,724 -

Department of State:
Public Diplomatic Programs SRS50021GR3027 19.040 15,992 -

Total U.S. Department of State 15,992 -

Department of Transportation:
Air Transportation Centers of Excellence 15-C-UAS-UAH-A 20.109 1,242,971 189,975

1,242,971 189,975

Pass Through Funds:
Alabama Department of Transportation 19-02670 20.509 1,192,532 -
Alabama Department of Transportation 20-01794 20.509 604,479 -
Alabama Department of Transportation 21-01045 20.509 58,971 36,236
Alabama Department of Transportation 21-01821 20.509 10,618 4,103
Alabama Department of Transportation 21-02510 20.509 1,926 -
Alabama Department of Transportation 22-01898 20.509 713,258 -
Alabama Department of Transportation RTAP 20-21 20.509 (78) -

2,581,706 40,339
Total U.S. Department of Transportation 3,824,677 230,314
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Department of Treasury:
Pass Through Funds:

Auburn University 22-GEOSC-248614-UAH 21.015 35,155 -

National Aeronautics & Space Administration:
Science 80MSFC20M0002 43.001 10,752 -
Science 80MSFC22M0004 43.001 23,214,345 548,222
Science 80NSSC18K0473 43.001 241,218 -
Science 80NSSC18K1209 43.001 59,477 -
Science 80NSSC18K1212 43.001 45,907 6,042
Science 80NSSC18K1411 43.001 103,441 -
Science 80NSSC18K1649 43.001 191,331 9,653
Science 80NSSC19K0075 43.001 249,747 -
Science 80NSSC19K0192 43.001 22,694 -
Science 80NSSC19K0200 43.001 74,421 44,605
Science 80NSSC19K0247 43.001 172,621 -
Science 80NSSC19K0248 43.001 325,548 -
Science 80NSSC19K0260 43.001 139,928 26,852
Science 80NSSC19K0276 43.001 3,847 -
Science 80NSSC19K1106 43.001 158,255 -
Science 80NSSC20K0284 43.001 19,575 -
Science 80NSSC20K0758 43.001 137,041 -
Science 80NSSC20K0786 43.001 34,622 16,582
Science 80NSSC20K0885 43.001 166,472 -
Science 80NSSC20K1423 43.001 60,464 -
Science 80NSSC20K1453 43.001 143,294 36,015
Science 80NSSC20K1516 43.001 31,970 -
Science 80NSSC20K1560 43.001 475 -
Science 80NSSC20K1573 43.001 15,166 -
Science 80NSSC20K1574 43.001 1,042 -
Science 80NSSC20K1582 43.001 146,360 66,286
Science 80NSSC20K1623 43.001 40,001 -
Science 80NSSC20K1783 43.001 146,827 -
Science 80NSSC21K0003 43.001 182,862 42,359
Science 80NSSC21K0026 43.001 30,050 8,784
Science 80NSSC21K0031 43.001 2,196 -
Science 80NSSC21K0074 43.001 15,386 -
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Science 80NSSC21K0372 43.001 22,052 -
Science 80NSSC21K0704 43.001 4,977 -
Science 80NSSC21K0729 43.001 38,299 25,726
Science 80NSSC21K1319 43.001 152,135 -
Science 80NSSC21K1763 43.001 137,014 -
Science 80NSSC21K1814 43.001 44,413 -
Science 80NSSC21K1859 43.001 43,671 -
Science 80NSSC21K1953 43.001 38,372 -
Science 80NSSC21K2000 43.001 25,231 -
Science 80NSSC22K0014 43.001 156,680 87,174
Science 80NSSC22K0058 43.001 46,542 -
Science 80NSSC22K0268 43.001 93,577 -
Science 80NSSC22K0270 43.001 89,176 -
Science 80NSSC22K0334 43.001 6,747 -
Science 80NSSC22K0353 43.001 7,492 -
Science 80NSSC22K0420 43.001 113,580 59,437
Science 80NSSC22K0524 43.001 99,447 18,943
Science 80NSSC22K0695 43.001 101,331 46,023
Science 80NSSC22K1505 43.001 45,655 -
Science 80NSSC22K1508 43.001 7,688 -
Science 80NSSC22K1613 43.001 11,729 -
Science 80NSSC23K0145 43.001 10,082 -
Science 80NSSC23K0183 43.001 75,647 -
Science 80NSSC23K0256 43.001 60,917 -
Science 80NSSC23K0306 43.001 20,778 -
Science 80NSSC23K0415 43.001 47,636 -
Science 80NSSC23K0650 43.001 37,511 -
Science 80NSSC23K0962 43.001 29,714 -
Exploration 80NSSC21K1836 43.003 24,678 -
Exploration 80NSSC22K0206 43.003 7,442 -
Exploration 80NSSC23M0018 43.003 16,636 -
Education 80MSFC22M0004 43.008 1,068,990 -
Education 80NSSC20M0044 43.008 921,747 315,407
Education 80NSSC19M0033 43.008 214 -
Education 80NSSC19M0147 43.008 274,476 268,655
Education 80NSSC19M0179 43.008 (1,260) (1,260)
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Education 43.008 19,949 17,885
Education 43.008 (1,384) -
Education 43.008 349 349
Education 43.008 6,756 6,756
Education 43.008 12,980 11,255
Education 43.008 22,482 21,334
Education 43.008 115,962 107,754
Education 43.008 170,441 127,649
Education 43.008 166,264 71,128
Education 43.008 76,102 41,572
Education 43.008 1,908 -
Education 43.008 837 -
Education 43.008 327,882 48,269
Cross Agency Support 43.009 7,864 -
Cross Agency Support 43.009 (3,712) -
Cross Agency Support 43.009 551 -
Cross Agency Support 43.009 45,455 -
Cross Agency Support 43.009 37,137 -
Space Technology 43.012 9,289 -
Space Technology 43.012 3,389 -
Space Technology 43.012 60,340 -
Space Technology 43.012 57,548 -
Space Technology 43.012 109,238 -
Space Technology 43.012 3,077 -

31,319,055 2,079,456

Pass Through Funds:
BAER Institute 43.001 112,221 -
BAER Institute 43.001 11,462 -
BAER Institute 43.001 4,598 -
California Institute of Technology 43.001 2,125 -
California Institute of Technology 43.001 93,005 -
Cornell University 43.001 93,737 -
Florida Institute of Technology 43.001 8,581 -
Florida State University 43.001 79,315 -
Georgia Institute of Technology 43.001 11,128 -
Georgia Institute of Technology

80NSSC20M0131 
80NSSC20M0136 
80NSSC20M0141 
80NSSC21M0138 
80NSSC21M0139 
80NSSC21M0176 
80NSSC21M0230 
80NSSC21M0361 
80NSSC22M0050 
80NSSC22M0272 
80NSSC23M0131 
80NSSC23M0172 
NNM11AA01A 
80NSSC21M0064 
80NSSC21M0035 
80NSSC21M0295 
80NSSC22M0226 
80NSSC23M0062 
80NSSC18K1669 
80NSSC22M0079 
80NSSC19K1144 
80NSSC21K1298 
80NSSC23K0232 
80NSSC23K1190

K1327A
K0720-001
K0520-51
SUBCONTRACT NO 1652776 
SUBCONTRACT NO. 1652001 
SUBAWARD 91579-20457 
SUBAWARD NO. 202584 
R000002838
AWD-103053-G1
AWD-003443-G1 43.001 77,300 -
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Johhn Hopkins University 170777 43.001 25,887 -
Johhn Hopkins University 173802 43.001 2,894 -
National Space Grant Foundation NEBP-121 43.001 5,482 -
New Jersey Inst. of Technology (NP) 997640 43.001 111,148 -
Princeton University SUB0000395 43.001 89,409 -
Princeton University SUB0000459 43.001 15,664 -
Princeton University SUB0000547 43.001 31,511 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO3-24107X 43.001 29,228 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO0-21118X 43.001 32,764 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory SUBCONTRACT NO. SV4-84017 43.001 207,857 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory G0122121X 43.001 48,246 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory G01-22122X 43.001 54,793 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO2-23082X 43.001 26,080 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO2-23079X 43.001 48,355 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO2-23111X 43.001 17,693 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO1-22102X 43.001 3,010 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO3-24077X 43.001 2,253 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO3-24115X 43.001 8,510 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO3-24110X 43.001 24,854 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO0-21117X 43.001 27,090 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory GO0-21120X 43.001 32,137 -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory TM0-21008X 43.001 (244) -
Smithsonian Astrophysical Observatory AR0-21013B 43.001 962 -
Space Telescope Science Institute HST-GO-16313.002-A 43.001 15,557 -
Space Telescope Science Institute HST-GO-16424.001-A 43.001 3,784 -
Space Telescope Science Institute HST-GO-16845.001-A 43.001 18,608 -
Southwest Research Institute M99054EH 43.001 34,487 -
Southwest Research Institute Q99069AKP 43.001 34,378 -
University of Alaska Fairbanks UAF-18-0116 43.001 42,949 -
University of Chicago AWD103509 (SUB00000866) 43.001 91,031 -
University of Florida SUB00002492 43.001 70,214 -
University of Iowa S02744-01 43.001 2,553 -
University of Michigan SUBK00012888 43.001 14,596 -
University of Tennessee A23-0375-S001 43.001 18,799 -
Universities Space Research Association 03605-08 43.001 4,516 -
Universities Space Research Association SUBAGREEMENT NO. 03632-01 43.001 7,391 -
Universities Space Research Association SUBK-21-0055 43.001 1,621 -
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U.S. Space & Rocket Center 80JSC021M0001 43.002 427,567 -
Navajo Technical College NTU-42550-01 43.008 20,673 -
Georgia Institute of Technology AWD-004520-G1 43.008 5,901 -
Boston University 4500003541 43.RD 25,283 -
Boston University 4500004478 43.RD 75,224 -
Colorado State University G-03626-06 43.RD 25,631 -
Davis Strategic Innovations Inc. 1501-S-UAH 43.RD 211,572 -
Dynetics Inc. DI-SC-19-39 43.RD 157,524 -
Lunar 2022-1642 43.RD 10,000 -
Lunar 2023-1860 43.RD 252 -
Princeton University PCCA-ATP-001 43.RD 50,966 -
Space Telescope Science Institute HST-GO-17240.001-A 43.RD 7,123 -
Zin Technologies, Inc. ZIN-2022-USA-2 43.RD 46,062 -

2,763,317 -
Total National Aeronautics & Space Administration 34,082,372 2,079,456

National Science Foundation:
Engineering Grants 2112610 47.041 (556) -
Engineering Grants 2240029 47.041 63,014 -
Engineering Grants 1653915 47.041 102,257 -
Engineering Grants 1804629 47.041 31,347 -
Engineering Grants 1917544 47.041 84,690 -
Engineering Grants 1943020 47.041 45,814 -
Engineering Grants 2041618 47.041 13,113 -
Engineering Grants 2139134 47.041 20,767 -
Engineering Grants 2144443 47.041 73,258 -
Engineering Grants 2244294 47.041 72 -
Mathematics 2107916 47.049 147,132 -
Mathematics 1933330 47.049 3,711 -
Mathematics 2010450 47.049 50,401 -
Mathematics 2009871 47.049 60,828 -
Mathematics 2139438 47.049 20,707 -
Mathematics 2223560 47.049 28,979 -
Mathematics 2305425 47.049 83,146 25,937
Geosciences 1445496 47.050 47,603 -
Geosciences 1650854 47.050 1,481 -
Geosciences 1720477 47.050 424 -



The University of Alabama in Huntsville 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2023 

Contract/Award or Pass-Through Assistance Listing Federal Passed to
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/Program or Cluster Title Entity Identifying Number Number Expenditures Subrecipients  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule. 

17 

Geosciences 1746119 47.050 28,537 -
Geosciences 1950831 47.050 125,863 -
Geosciences 1954503 47.050 75,781 -
Geosciences 2020703 47.050 132,664 -
Geosciences 2025570 47.050 75,801 29,213
Geosciences 2028154 47.050 253,232 -
Geosciences 2113247 47.050 162,265 -
Geosciences 2149771 47.050 313,896 163,314
Geosciences 2151807 47.050 92,308 -
Geosciences 2209772 47.050 98,005 -
Geosciences 2212196 47.050 17,339 -
Geosciences 2229065 47.050 10,529 -
Geosciences 2230633 47.050 5,264 -
Geosciences 2301365 47.050 3,451 -
Computer and Information Science and Engineering 2007403 47.070 98,302 -
Computer and Information Science and Engineering 2044633 47.070 74,262 -
Computer and Information Science and Engineering 2135310 47.070 37,262 -
Computer and Information Science and Engineering 2146523 47.070 108,739 -
Biological Science 2047939 47.074 235,276 -
Biological Science 2213247 47.074 138,296 -
Biological Science 1911459 47.074 32,131 -
Education and Human Resources 1742533 47.076 50,952 -
Education and Human Resources 1753900 47.076 1,291,818 216,941
Integrative Activities 1655280 47.083 2,130,553 1,331,238
Integrative Activities 1929099 47.083 77,749 -
Integrative Activities 2148653 47.083 2,989,132 964,225
Integrative Activities 2230557 47.083 290,543 87,676
Integrative Activities 2232873 47.083 729,933 -
Technology, Innovation, and Partnerships (TIP) 2309263 47.084 19,381 -

10,577,452 2,818,544

Pass-Through Funds:
Kansas State University A20-0228-S001 47.041 82,344 -
University of Tennessee A20-0540-S001 47.041 18,795 -
California State University Northridge A21-0049-S001 47.050 65,794 -
Columbia University 1(GG015522) 47.050 1,989 -
Columbia University 1(GG016716-01) 47.050 1,474 -
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Spellman College 24500-001 47.050 16,860 -
University of North Texas GF30130-1 47.075 19,747 -
University of Alabama UA 16-056  47.076 125 -
University of Alabama at Birmingham 00524370-001 47.076 40,127 -
University of Alabama at Birmingham 000524370-002 47.076 2,560 -

249,815 -
Total National Science Foundation 10,827,267 2,818,544

Small Business Administration
Pass-Through Funds:

University of Alabama A23-0076-S004 59.037 106,674 -
University of Alabama A22-0074-S004 59.037 563 -

Total Small Business Administration 107,237 -

Environmental Protection Agency:
P3 Award: National Student Design Competition for Sustainability 84015201 66.516 2,590 -

Total Environmental Protection Agency 2,590 -

Department of Energy:
Office of Science Financial Assistance Program DE-SC0019296 81.049 69,892 -
Office of Science Financial Assistance Program DE-SC0021391 81.049 248,459 -
Office of Science Financial Assistance Program DE-SC0023332 81.049 499,376 -
Office of Science Financial Assistance Program DE-SC0023513 81.049 194,205 -

1,011,932 -

Pass-Through Funds:
Oklahoma State University 1-513563-UAH 81.057 29,161
Hyper Jet Fusion Corporation HJ2020-01 81.RD 131,557 -

160,718 -
Total Department of Energy 1,172,650 -

Department of Education:
Pass-Through Funds:

Education Innovation and Research NISWONGER MOU DTD 03/10/2021 84.411 120,258 -
120,258 -
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U.S. Department of Health & Human Services:
Arthritis, Musculoskeletal and Skin Diseases 1R01AR079499-01A1 93.846 325,499 -
Neurosciences and Neurological Disorders 1R15NS111413-01A1 93.853 117,155 -

442,654 -

Pass-Through Funds:
Castner Incorporated 21-003 93.113 6,753 -
University of Alabama at Birmingham 000532781-SC007 93.307 38,962 -
Columbia University 1(GG016477-11) 93.847 122,210 -
Vanderbilt University VUMC103865 93.855 79,582 -
University of Wisconsin-Madison 0000001479 93.855 60,567 -

308,074 -
Total U.S. Department of Health & Human Services 750,728 -
Total Research and Development Cluster 110,339,825 9,817,799

Student Financial Assistance Cluster:
Department of Education:

Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants P007A220081 84.007 259,396 -
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants P007A230081 84.007 53,813 -
Federal Work Study P033A210081 84.033 213,062 -
Federal Work Study P033A220081 84.033 19,686 -
Federal PELL Grant Program P063P210009 84.063 6,380,524 -
Federal PELL Grant Program P063P220009 84.063 1,821,815 -
Federal Direct Student Loans P268K220009 84.268 12,907,932 -
Federal Direct Student Loans P268K230009 84.268 11,412,854 -

33,069,082 -

Department of Health & Human Services:
Nursing Faculty Loan Program (NFLP)
Outstanding Loans as of October 1, 2022 93.264 557,550 -
New Loans Issued E01HP28802-05-00 93.264 61,341 -
Administrative Cost Allowances - -

618,891 -
Total Student Financial Assistance Cluster 33,687,973 -
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Other Federal Awards
U.S. Department of Agriculture:

The Alabama Department of Education B90-0000 10.558 27,307 -

U.S. Department of Defense:
Community Investment HQ00052010082 12.600 1,029,382 455,993
DoD CySP, Cyber Scholarship Program H98230-21-1-0244 12.902 4,642 -
GenCyber Grants Program H98230-21-1-0067 12.903 149,156 -

GenCyber Grants Program H98230-22-1-0111 12.903 37,307 -
186,463 -

CyberSecurity Core Curriculum H98230-20-1-0323 12.905 73,521 -
CyberSecurity Core Curriculum H98230-20-1-0333 12.905 167,245 23,006
CyberSecurity Core Curriculum H98230-20-1-0370 12.905 33,583 -
CyberSecurity Core Curriculum H98230-21-1-0176 12.905 760,088 51,161
CyberSecurity Core Curriculum H98230-21-1-0316 12.905 141,330 -

Dakota State University 266-840274 12.905 10,954 -
1,186,721 74,167

Missile Defense Agency HQ086020C6000 12.U01 201,540 -
Total U.S. Department of Defense 2,608,748 530,160

Department of State:
Public Diplomatic Programs SAU91520CA002 19.040 (34) -
Public Diplomatic Programs SRS50019CA0076 19.040 2,131 -
Public Diplomatic Programs SAU91521CA3001 19.040 37,038 -

39,135 -

Department of Education:
Office of Special Education and Rehabilitative Services H325K190055 84.325 207,509 -
English Language Acquisition State Grants T365Z220054 84.365 228,229 23,400
COVID-19 - Higher Education Emergency Relief Funds (HEERF) - Institutional PortionP425F204130 84.425F 422,488 -

Alabama Department of Education U230797 84.325D 9,597 -
Total U.S. Department of Education 867,823 23,400
Total Other Federal Awards 3,543,013 553,560
Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 147,570,811$ 10,371,359$   

Pass-Through Funds:

Pass-Through Funds:
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1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the “Schedule”) summarizes the
expenditures of The University of Alabama in Huntsville (the “University”), a campus of the
University of Alabama System, under programs of the federal government for the year ended
September 30, 2023.  Other campuses of the University of Alabama System are presented in
separate reports.  The information presented in this Schedule is presented on the accrual basis of
accounting, which is in accordance with the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards
(Uniform Guidance).  Because the Schedule presents only the federal award activity of the
University, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net position
and cash flows of the University.

The only component unit of the University is the University of Alabama in Huntsville Foundation.
This component unit is not subject to requirements of the Uniform Guidance as it does not receive
federal awards; therefore, it is not included within the Schedule.

For purposes of this Schedule, federal awards include all grants, contracts, and similar agreements
entered into directly between the University and agencies and departments of the federal
government and all sub-awards to the University by nonfederal organizations pursuant to federal
grants, contracts, and similar agreements.

Negative numbers in the Schedule represent adjustments to amounts reported in prior years in the
normal course of business.  The Assistance Listings and pass-through numbers have been
provided to the extent they were available.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

For purposes of the Schedule, expenditures for federal award programs are recognized on the
accrual basis of accounting unless otherwise directed by the terms and conditions of the underlying
awards. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform
Guidance wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited to reimbursement.
in the accompanying Schedule.

Expenditures for federal student financial assistance programs include Federal Pell program grants
to students, the federal share of students’ Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants,
and Federal Work-Study Program earnings and administrative cost allowances where applicable.

3. Facilities and Administrative Costs (“F&A Costs”)

The University has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under
the Uniform Guidance. The University operates under predetermined fixed F&A cost rates which
are effective from October 1, 2020 through September 30, 2024.  Per 2 CFR 200.414 (g) a rate
extension has been granted. The predetermined fixed rates were based on 2015 financial
information.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2023, the base rate for on-campus research
is 48% and 50% for Department of Defense contracts and subcontracts, respectfully.  Base rates
for other F&A cost recoveries range from 10.0% to 50.0%.
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4. Federal Student Loan Programs

The Nurse Faculty Loan Program (NFLP) is administered directly by the University, and balances
and transactions relating to these programs are included in the University’s financial statements.
NFLP loans outstanding at the beginning of the year, the administrative cost allowance and loans
made during the year are included in the federal expenditures presented in the Schedule.  The
balance of loans outstanding at September 30, 2023 consists of:

Assistance
Listing # Amount

Student Loan Balance, September 30, 2023 Nursing Faculty Loan 93.264 550,524$         

The Federal Direct Student Loan Program (FDSLP) was established under the Higher Education 
Act of 1965, as amended in the Student Loan Reform Act of 1993.  The FDSLP enables an eligible 
student or parent to obtain a Federal direct loan to pay for the student’s cost of attendance directly 
through the University rather than through private lenders.  As a university qualified to originate 
loans, the University is responsible for handling the complete loan process, including funds 
management as well as promissory note functions.  The University is not responsible for collection 
of these loans.  The FDSLP loans issued during fiscal year 2023 are included in the federal 
expenditures presented in the Schedule. 



Part II  
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 



Section II – Financial Statement Findings  

2023-001: Lack of Sufficient Competent Resources in the Accounting and Finance Function 

Criteria 
As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit, 
which includes the end-to-end process around key financial reporting cycles (i.e., transaction level 
controls) with a level of precision to prevent, or detect and correct on a timely basis, a misstatement that 
could be material to the financial statements (AU-C section 315). 

Condition 
During 2023, the University did not maintain an effective control environment as it lacked a sufficient 
complement of resources with an appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and training to design, 
maintain, and monitor its internal control over financial reporting commensurate with its financial reporting 
requirements.  

Cause 
The University experienced significant turnover in its accounting and finance personnel during 2023, that 
reduced the complement and skill of the resources within the University. The University was unable to 
replace accounting and financial reporting resources in a timely manner subsequent to their separation.   

Effect 
Although this material weakness did not result in a material misstatement of the annual financial 
statements, the lack of knowledgeable personnel within the accounting and financial reporting function 
could result in a misstatement of the relevant account balances or disclosures resulting in a material 
misstatement to the annual financial statements not being prevented or detected. 
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Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements
Type of auditor's report issued:  Unmodified opinion

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weakness(es) identified? x yes no
Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not considered to be material weaknesses? yes x none reported
Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? yes x no

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:
Material weakness(es) identified? yes x no
Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not considered to be material weaknesses? yes x none reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs:  Unmodified opinion

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance the 
 with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? x yes no

Identification of major programs:
AL Number(s) Name of Federal Program or Cluster
Various Student Financial Assistance
12.905 CyberSecurity Core Curriculum

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B Programs: 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? x yes no

3,000,000$      
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Recommendation 
We recommend that management critically assess the needs of its accounting and finance department, 
including the number of individuals and the required skillsets, determine the appropriate levels of 
compensation for the market in which the University operates, and execute on its hiring plan.  

Management’s View and Corrective Action Plan 
Management’s response is reported in “Management’s View and Corrective Action Plan” included at the 
end of this report.   

Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

Finding 2023-002 – E-Sign Act  
Cluster: Student Financial Assistance 
Federal Agency: Department of Education 
Assistance Listing Title and Number: All 
Award Name: Not applicable 
Award Identifying Number: Not applicable 
Award Year: Fiscal year 2023 
Pass-through Entity: Not applicable 

Criteria: The University is subject to compliance requirements pertaining to the disbursement of funds 
to students under Federal Student Aid (FSA) programs within the Student Financial Assistance cluster. 
For any students participating in electronic transactions, schools must obtain their voluntary consent to 
participate pursuant to The Electronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act (or the E-Sign 
Act). 
Condition: While reviewing the underlying support for a sample of 25 students, we noted that voluntary 
consent for electronic disbursement participation was not obtained for any of these students. 
Questioned Costs: None 
Cause: The University inadvertently omitted the process where the student would voluntarily consent to 
participate in electronic transactions from the list of terms and conditions each student is required to 
accept.  
Effect: A lack of student consent to participate in electronic transactions may result in the transactions 
being denied legal effect, validity, or enforceability solely because it is in electronic form or because an 
electronic signature or electronic record was used in its formation. 
Recommendation: We recommend that management review the requirements of the E-Sign Act with 
respect to student electronic transaction voluntary consents and put in place processes that will ensure 
such consent is captured in future transactions.  The University should continually assess the operation 
of the updated policies and procedures in place as it relates to voluntary consent. 
View of Responsible Officials: Management’s response is included in “Management’s Views and 
Corrective Action Plan” included at the end of this report after the summary schedule of status of prior 
audit findings. 
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Finding 2023-003 – Timeliness of Enrollment Reporting 
Cluster: Student Financial Assistance 
Federal Agency: Department of Education 
Assistance Listing Title and Number:  84.268 - Federal Direct Loan Program 
Award Name: Not applicable 
Award Identifying Number: Not applicable 
Award Year: Fiscal year 2023 
Pass-through Entity: Not applicable 

Criteria: In accordance with 34 CFR 690.83(b)(2) and 685.309, schools are required to report the 
enrollment status of students who received Federal Pell Grants and/or Federal Direct Loans to the 
National Student Loan Data System (“NSLDS”). Enrollment information, inclusive of campus level and 
program level data, must be reviewed, updated, and validated by the institution in a timely manner as it 
is used to determine the borrower’s eligibility for in-school status, deferment, interest subsidy and grace 
period. Specific to the Federal Direct Loan program, enrollment changes, such as a change from full-time 
to half-time status, graduation, withdrawal, or an approved leave of absence, are changes that need to 
be reported within 60 days of the change.  
Condition: We reviewed a sample of 25 students enrolled at the University who received either Federal 
Pell Grants and/or Federal Direct Loans and had a change in enrollment between March 1, 2023 and 
September 30, 2023 of the fiscal year. Through our enrollment reporting testing, we identified one  
student in which the status change was reported 274 days after the effective date of the change in 
enrollment status, which is greater than the 60 day requirement.   
Questioned Costs: None 
Cause: Although the University has processes and controls to timely  report student enrollment changes 
to the National Student Clearinghouse (“NSC”) and to the NSLDS, these controls did not operate as 
designed during the period to meet the 60-day reporting requirement. The University did not timely 
review the unapplied records reported by NSC for the University’s review so that records could be 
reported to NSLDS. 
Effect: The effective administration of Federal Direct Loans could be impacted when changes in 
students’ enrollment are not reported accurately and/or timely. The timeliness of reporting enrollment 
information is important, as a student’s enrollment status determines eligibility for in-school status, 
deferment, grace period and repayments, as well as the government’s payment of interest subsidies.  
Recommendation: We recommend the University enhance its controls and revise its procedures to 
ensure that status changes are reported timely to the NSLDS.    
View of Responsible Officials: Management’s response is included in “Management’s Views and 
Corrective Action Plan” included at the end of this report after the summary schedule of status of prior 
audit findings. 
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MANAGEMENT’S VIEWS AND CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN

The following is the University of Alabama in Huntsville’s response to the audit of Federal programs in 
accordance with the Uniform Guidance for the year ending September 30, 2023:

Finding 2023-001:
Lack of Sufficient Competent Resources in the Accounting and Finance Function

View of Responsible Officials: The University concurs with the auditors’ finding, which initially occurred 
during the year ending September 30, 2023. Due to the significant turnover in its accounting and finance 
personnel during 2023 and the inability to replace accounting and financial reporting resources in a timely 
manner, the University did not maintain an effective control environment. Management understands its 
responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

The University hired an Assistant Controller on April 8, 2024 and an Accounts Payable Assistant on April 10, 
2024. The University is actively recruiting for two staff accountant positions and two management positions in 
the Accounting & Financial Reporting Department and will simultaneously be employing outsourced accounting 
services while we hire qualified candidates for these permanent positions.

The University expects to complete this corrective action plan by December 2024. 

For follow-up questions or if you need any additional information, please feel free to contact Brad Cooper, 
Assistant VP for Finance & Business Services/Controller, at jbc0038@uah.edu who is responsible for this 
corrective action.

Brad Cooper
Assistant VP for Finance & Business Services/Controller

Finance & Business Services
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Finding 2023-002 - E-Sign Act

The University concurs with the auditors' finding. Management understands the requirement to 

obtain student voluntary consent to participate in electronic transactions. As required by Federal 

law, The University of Alabama in Huntsville ("UAH") must inform students that it conducts 

business electronically and allow students to choose to conduct business through other means. 

During the 2024-2025 academic year UAH will make available to students the option of 
electronic communication or non-electronic communications by using our custom Password 
reset application. To access UAH services, all students must voluntarily provide consent to 
participate in electronic transactions. This consent will be recorded in our Banner system. 

Finding 2023-003 - Timeliness of Enrollment Reporting 

The University concurs with the auditors' finding. We are implementing measures to timely 

report student enrollment status changes to the National Student Loan Data System ("NSLDS"). 

The University of Alabama in Huntsville maintains records for each student's enrollment status 

(full-time, three-quarter time, etc.) within our student information system. Each month, UAH 

transmits a data file containing updated enrollment statuses for all students to the National 

Student Clearinghouse ("Clearinghouse"). The Clearinghouse then reports the updated 

enrollment status to "NSLDS". 

Retirements of key personnel within the Registrar's Office impacted the ability to maintain 

consistent review of enrollment reporting. A new Registrar was hired on November 13. 

Additionally, a comprehensive procedural guide detailing the process for reviewing 

Clearinghouse errors and warning reports will be developed. This documentation will enable 

cross-training of other personnel to maintain the review process during staff absences or 

vacancies, upholding standardized practices and ensuring student enrollment status changes 

are reported timely. 

The University expects to complete this corrective action plan by December 2024. 

For follow-up questions or if you need any additional information, please feel free to contact, 

contact Patrick James, Associate VP for Student Affairs, at pgj0002@uah.edu who is 

responsible for this corrective action. 

�j!� 
Associate Vice President for Student Affairs 

Student Services Building 

Suite 124 

301 Sparkman Drive 

Huntsville, AL 35899 

t 256.824.6650 

f 256.824.6212 

finaid.uah.edu 

finaid@uah.edu 
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There are no findings from prior years that require an update in this report. 
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The recently completed Spragins Hall Interior Renovations & Exterior Signage project included much-
needed improvements to the main lobby, corridors, arena, concessional areas, and VIP Club. The project 
also includes reconfiguration of the ticket booth, upgrading existing men’s and women’s restrooms, interior 
graphics and new exterior signage. 



Report of Independent Auditors 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the 
discretely presented component unit of The University of Alabama in Huntsville (the “University”), 
a campus of The University of Alabama System, a component unit of the State of Alabama, which 
comprise the statements of net position as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related 
statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position and of cash flows (where applicable) 
for the years then ended, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial 
statements”). 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the accompanying financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business-
type activities and the discretely presented component unit of The University of Alabama in 
Huntsville as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective changes in financial position 
and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We did not audit the financial statements of The University of Alabama Huntsville Foundation, the 
University’s discretely presented component unit, which statements reflect total assets of $121.0 
million and $94.4 million as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, and an increase in net position of 
$14.2 million and $5.7 million for the years then ended. Those statements were audited by other 
auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts 
included for the discretely presented component unit, is based solely on the report of the other 
auditors. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America (“US GAAS”) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
University and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

The financial statements of The University of Alabama Huntsville Foundation were not audited in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

Emphasis of Matters 

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the University are intended to present the 
financial position, the changes in financial position, and the cash flows of only that portion of the 
business-type activities of the financial reporting entity of The University of Alabama System that is 
attributable to the transactions of the University. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly 
the financial position of The University of Alabama System as of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 569 Brookwood Village, Suite 851, Birmingham, AL  35209 
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changes in its financial position, or its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinions are not 
modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not 
absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with US 
GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if 
there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with US GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

● Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. 
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. 

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplemental Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
accompanying management’s discussion and analysis on pages 5 through 14 and the required 
supplementary information for the pension plan and postemployment benefits on pages 60 and 61 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
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management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial 
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 
30, 2024 on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant 
agreements and other matters for the year ended September 30, 2023. The purpose of that report is
solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
University’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Birmingham, Alabama
January 31, 2024
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The University of Alabama in Huntsville 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 

The following discussion and analysis provides an overview of the financial performance and activities of The  
University of Alabama in Huntsville (the “University” or “UAH”) for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 
2022. This discussion and analysis has been prepared by University management along with the financial state-
ments and related note disclosures, and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related note 
disclosures. The financial statements, notes and this discussion are the responsibility of management. 

Introduction  
 
The University of Alabama in Huntsville is a public co-educational, state-supported research university and is 
classified as a ‘very high research activity’ institution by the Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of 
Teaching, placing it among a select group of public universities in America. UAH has five research programs 
ranked in the top 20 in the nation, according to the National Science Foundation, including 6th in the United States 
in aerospace engineering. UAH is 11th in the nation in NASA-sponsored research and 17th in the nation in DOD 
research. 
 
The University offers 94 degree-granting programs that meet the highest standards of excellence, including 45 
bachelor's degree programs, 31 master’s degree programs, and 18 doctoral programs through its eight colleges: 
Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences; Business; Education; Engineering; Graduate School; Honors; Nursing; and 
Science.  
 
UAH is an autonomous campus within The University of Alabama System (the “System”) and is the anchor tenant 
for Cummings Research Park, the second largest university research park in the United States and home to over 
300 high technology and research companies. 
 
UAH is ranked as “R1 – Very high research activity” status among doctoral-granting universities in the Carnegie 
Classification of Institutes of Higher Education rankings. U.S. News & World Report ranks UAH among the top 
eight percent of public universities in the nation. According to PayScale, UAH provides the number one return on 
investment of all Alabama schools for both in-state and out-of-state students. 

The University expended over $133 million for externally funded projects for the year ended September 30, 2023. 
Sponsors of research include federal and state agencies, academic institutions, industry and private foundations. 
Research is conducted within the eight individual colleges and through the University’s 17 independent research 
centers, laboratories and institutes. UAH also received Public School and College Authority funds and other state 
capital appropriation funds in 2023 totaling $2.6 million and $19.3 million respectively.  

Major interdisciplinary research thrusts include: modeling and simulation; cybersecurity; systems engineering; 
rotorcraft and aerospace engineering; propulsion; optics; space physics and astrophysics; earth and atmospheric 
system science; information technology; materials science; biotechnology; nanotechnology; humanities; lean 
supply chain, acquisition, and logistics; advanced manufacturing; and artificial intelligence.  

Overview of Financial Statements 

The financial statements present comparative financial information for the University and its discretely presented 
component unit, The University of Alabama in Huntsville Foundation (“UAHF”). The financial information for UAHF 
does not form part of the University’s MD&A, financial statements, or footnotes. However, UAHF’s Statements of 
Net Position and Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position are discretely presented on 
pages 20-21. 
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During fiscal year 2023, UAH adopted GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements (SBITA), which defines a SBITA as a contract that conveys control of the right to use another party’s 
information technology software. The statement requires a government to recognize a right-to-use subscription 
asset and a corresponding subscription liability. The adoption of GASB Statement No. 96 has been reflected at the 
beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements, or October 1, 2021. For purposes of the 
MD&A, fiscal year 2021 information does not reflect the adoption of GASB Statement No. 96. 

Statements of Net Position 
 
The statements of net position present the assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and net position of the University as of the end of the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022. 
The purpose of the statements of net position is to present a fiscal snapshot of the University to the readers of the 
financial statements.  

The statements of net position present the assets available to continue the operations of the University. The 
statements also show how much the University owes vendors, bond holders and lending institutions. Finally, the 
statements of net position provide a picture of the net position and the availability of resources for expenditure by 
the University. 
 
Net position is divided into three major categories. The first category, net investment in capital assets, consists of 
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and outstanding principal balances of debt attributable to the 
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. The second net position category is restricted net 
position, which is further divided into two sub-categories, nonexpendable and expendable. The corpus of 
nonexpendable restricted resources, as it pertains to endowments, is only available for investment purposes, with 
the income earned thereon available primarily to fund scholarships and fellowships. Expendable restricted net 
position is available for expenditure by the University but must be spent for purposes as determined by donors and/
or external entities that have placed a time or purpose restriction on the use of the assets. The final category is 
unrestricted net position, which is available to the University as needed. Unrestricted net position is negative due to 
the University recording its share of the State of Alabama’s unfunded pension and OPEB plans. As discussed in 
Note 1 to the University’s basic financial statements, the 2022 financial statements have been revised to correct for 
an immaterial error and this MD&A has been revised accordingly.     
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A summarized comparison of the University’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of 
resources, and net position as of September 30 is as follows: 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the University’s current assets increased $33.0 million primarily due to 
an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $34.2 million. Endowment, life income and other investments 
increased $53.5 million due to investments of capital appropriations received and due to favorable returns on 
investments in 2023. Capital assets, net of depreciation, increased by 1.1 million. Other noncurrent assets 
increased by $8.0 million primarily due to a generous pledge from the UAH Foundation for construction of the 
Raymond B. Jones Engineering Building. Current liabilities decreased $2.4 million. The majority of this decrease is 
due to a $6.0 million decrease in unearned revenue that was attributable to softening enrollment  and a shift in the 
academic calendar that was offset by a $2.8 million increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The 
increase in noncurrent liabilities of $51.7 million was primarily attributable to increases in pension liabilities of 
$90.6 million and increases in lease and SBITA liabilities of $7.1 million that were offset by payments for bond 
principal of $5.6 million, payments for lease and SBITA principal of $1.3 million and a decrease in OPEB liabilities 
of $39.6 million.  

GASB Statements No. 68 and 75 require governmental employers participating in multi-employer cost-sharing 
pension and healthcare benefit plans to recognize liabilities for their proportionate share of the unfunded liability 
for plans whose actuarial liabilities exceed the plan’s net assets. As required by Alabama statute, all eligible 
employees of a qualifying public educational employer must be a member of the Teacher’s Retirement System of 
Alabama (TRS). As a qualifying employer, the University is required to make certain employer contributions on 
behalf of its employees participating in TRS’s defined benefit pension plan. Additionally, Alabama statutes 
permitted the University to opt-in to provide its eligible retirees with healthcare benefits through the Public 
Education Employees’ Health Insurance Plan (PEEHIP).  

The University recorded an increase in deferred outflows of resources of $25.6 million primarily due to differences 
in  projected and actual earnings on investments offset by differences in expected and actual experience, changes 
of assumptions, and changes in proportion. Deferred inflows related to leases decreased from $6.8 million to $6.0 
million. The decrease is due to the regular amortization of the deferred inflows and recognition of lease revenue in 
accordance with GASB 87. Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB decreased $16.0 million 
due primarily to differences between projected and actual earnings on investments. 

2023 2022 2021
Current assets 191,133,109$ 158,126,459$ 133,502,792$ 
Noncurrent assets:
     Endowment, life income and other investments 157,043,002   103,522,443   120,197,213   
     Capital assets, net 307,152,753   306,061,306   302,315,333   
     Other 17,888,841     9,886,012      9,437,408       

Total assets 673,217,705   577,596,220   565,452,746   

Deferred outflows of resources 115,690,814   90,140,786     98,710,616     

Current liabilities 83,366,886     85,763,478     88,182,330     
Noncurrent liabilities 389,432,814   337,738,057   396,641,004   

Total liabilities 472,799,700   423,501,535   484,823,334   

Deferred inflows of resources - leases 5,968,200      6,753,327      7,540,024       
Deferred inflows of resources - pension and OPEB 74,463,242     90,439,348     46,760,728     

Total deferred inflows of resources 80,431,442     97,192,675     54,300,752     

Net position
     Net investment in capital assets 165,912,607   169,013,485   162,862,000   
     Restricted 106,029,511   50,261,706     29,756,055     
     Unrestricted (36,264,741)    (72,232,395)    (67,578,779)    

Total net position 235,677,377$ 147,042,796$ 125,039,276$ 

Condensed Statements of Net Position

September 30
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The employer contribution rates for both plans are established annually by TRS and PEEHIP, and adopted by the 
Alabama Legislature. Both the TRS employer contribution rate and the employer’s PEEHIP cost for retiree coverage 
are based upon the actuarial valuations performed by TRS and PEEHIP, respectively. Although the liabilities 
recognized under GASB 68 and 75 meet GASB’s definition of a liability within GASB’s framework for accounting 
standards, UAH does not believe that the associated recorded liabilities constitute legal liability for the University, 
nor do they open the University to other claims on its resources. See Note 9 and Note 10 to the financial statements 
for additional information. 

For the year ended September 30, 2022, the University’s current assets increased $24.6 million primarily due to an 
increase in cash and cash equivalents of $33.6 million. Endowment, life income and other investments decreased 
$16.7 million due to unfavorable returns on investments. Capital assets, net of depreciation, increased by $3.7 
million with $1.5 million of this increase attributable of the adoption of GASB 96. Other noncurrent assets increased 
by $449 thousand. Current liabilities decreased $2.4 million. The majority of this decrease was due to a $1.5 million 
decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilities and a $1.6 million decrease in unearned revenue. Noncurrent 
liabilities decreased by approximately $58.9 million, primarily as a result of a decrease in the Pension and OPEB 
liabilities of $54.4 million as required by GASB No. 68 and No. 75. 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the University’s total net position increased $88.6 million. The University’s 
net investment in capital assets decreased approximately $3.1 million. Restricted net position increased 
approximately $55.8 million primarily due to restricted capital gifts and appropriations. The deficit in unrestricted net 
position decreased approximately $36.0 million. Although unrestricted net position is not subject to externally 
imposed stipulations, substantially all of the University's unrestricted net position has been designated for capital 
projects and various academic and research initiatives. 

For the year ended September 30, 2022, the University’s total net position increased $22.0 million. The University’s 
net investment in capital assets increased approximately $6.2 million. Restricted net position increased 
approximately $20.5 million primarily due to a restricted capital appropriation. The deficit in unrestricted net position 
increased approximately $4.7 million. 

Capital Assets 

For the years ended September 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the University had approximately $651.7 million, $638.5 
million, and $618.2 million invested in capital assets and accumulated depreciation of $344.6 million, $332.4 million, 
and $315.9 million, respectively. Depreciation charges for the years ended September 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021, 
were $20.3 million, $19.3 million, and $18.3 million, respectively. The following table summarizes the University’s 
capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, as of September 30:  

Capital Assets, Net 

2023 2022 2021
Land 14,050,899$   14,050,899$   14,050,899$   
Land improvements and infrastructure, net 8,410,369  7,236,076      4,296,781      
Buildings and building improvements, net 251,686,470   261,931,352   264,911,345   
Equipment, net 20,685,365  17,498,167   16,273,924   
Library books, net 1,208,879  1,089,339  1,296,691  
Computer Software - 590,849 301,291   
Right of use assets - Leases 7,896,455  - -  
Right of use assets - SBITAs 2,014,914  2,465,222 -  
Collections 1,199,402  1,199,402 1,184,402  

  Total capital assets, net 307,152,753$ 306,061,306$ 302,315,333$ 
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Debt 

This table summarizes outstanding debt by type, as of September 30. Principle and interest on these revenue bonds 
are collateralized by a pledge of revenues produced by student housing and student tuition and fees.  

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

Changes in total net position as presented on the statements of net position are based on the activity presented in 
the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, which reflect the University’s results of 
operations. This presents the revenues and expenses, both operating and non-operating, along with other changes 
in net position.  

State educational appropriations are classified as non-operating, in accordance with GASB accounting standards, 
because they are provided by the State Legislature to the University without the Legislature directly receiving 
commensurate goods and services in return for those revenues. Without the non-operating revenues, in particular 
the state appropriations, the University would not be able to cover its costs of operations. These sources are critical 
to the University’s financial stability and directly impact the quality of its programs.  

Major capital projects that reached substantial completion in fiscal year 2023 include Altenkirch Lawn Greenway 
Phase IV, Business Administration Building Roof Replacement, Campus North Lake Dredging Phase I, Central Plant 
Building Roof Replacement, Olin B. King Technology Hall Roof Replacement, Optics Building Flooring & Door Re-
placement, and Spragins Hall Interior Renovations & Exterior Signage. 

Additional information about the University’s capital assets is presented in Note 6 to the financial statements.  

2023 2022 2021
Bonds - Current 5,942,000$     5,580,000$     5,327,000$     
Bonds - Long Term 119,658,000   125,600,000   129,900,000   
Lease - Current 877,012   194,000   194,000  
Lease - Long Term 7,282,560   19,630  213,630  
SBITA - Current 415,908   453,786  -   
SBITA - Long Term 814,392   1,016,679  -   
Premium, net 10,188,576   10,780,819   11,798,687   
  Total debt outstanding 145,178,448$ 143,644,914$ 147,433,317$ 
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Approximately $73.6 million in state educational appropriations were received for the year ended September 30, 
2023. Of this amount, $63.6 million was from recurring appropriations and $10.0 million was a supplemental 
appropriation in support of UAH’s Center for Cybersecurity Research and Education. 

Gross tuition and fees decreased approximately $4.3 million for the year ended September 30, 2023 due to 
softening enrollment.  Gross tuition and fees increased approximately $1.3 million for the year ended September 30, 
2022 due to tuition and fee increases. 

Significant recurring sources of the University’s revenues, such as state appropriations, are considered non-
operating, as defined by GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements-Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis – for Public Colleges and Universities.  

A summarized comparison of the University’s revenues, expenses and changes in net position for the years end-
ed September 30 is as follows:  

 Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years ended September 30
2023 2022 2021

Operating revenues:
 Tuition and fees 116,180,404$ 120,448,927$ 119,161,969$ 

  Less: scholarship allowances (40,451,521)  (44,907,292)   (47,878,093)  
 Tuition and fees, net 75,728,883   75,541,635    71,283,876   

  Federal, state and private grants and contracts 133,491,568   141,726,623   128,452,849   
  Sales and services of educational activities 4,032,231  5,341,508  4,363,351   
  Auxiliary, net of $795,249 in 2023, $1,356,764 in 2022,

and $1,955,997 in 2021 of scholarship allowances 16,140,647   13,349,046    11,512,344   
     Total operating revenues 229,393,329   235,958,812   215,612,420   
Operating expenses 300,920,245   299,498,645   294,568,209   

 Operating loss (71,526,916)  (63,539,833)   (78,955,789)  

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
 State educational appropriations 73,678,125   58,322,523    57,378,734   
 Private gifts 3,398,143  4,615,976  7,868,683   
 Net investment (loss) income 14,685,547   (16,315,109)   22,472,701   
 Grant revenue 9,170,783  19,528,130    27,651,693   
 Loss on disposal of capital assets (445,794)  (213,736)  (109,299)  
 Interest expense (5,403,646)   (5,893,703)   (5,962,315)  
 Net nonoperating revenues 95,083,158   60,044,081    109,300,197   

Other changes in net position 65,078,339   25,499,272    2,251,361   

Increase in net position 88,634,581   22,003,520    32,595,769   
Net position, beginning of year 147,042,796   125,039,276   92,443,507   

Net position, end of year 235,677,377$ 147,042,796$ 125,039,276$ 
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The University receives grant and contract revenue from federal, state and local governments and private agencies. 
These funds are used to further the mission of the University: research, education, and public service. These funds 
are recorded as operating revenues. 

Grants and contracts revenue decreased $8.2 million in fiscal year 2023 primarily due to Department of Defense 
contracts that were not renewed. For the year ended September 30, 2022 grants and contracts revenues increased 
$13.2 million due primarily to increases in federal contracts. 

Investments produced income and gains for fiscal year 2023 of $14.7 million due to more favorable market 
conditions compared to fiscal year 2022. Investments produced losses for fiscal year 2022 in the amount of $16.3 
million, a $38.8 million decrease compared to fiscal year 2021. These amounts are primarily a function of the 
investment return earned in the portfolio, primarily the UA System Investment Pools. 

The University received gifts of approximately $6.6 million for fiscal year 2023 that will be used to support various 
academic programs and provide scholarships and fellowships to UAH students as stipulated by our generous 
donors. UAH received gifts of  $4.6 million in 2022 and $7.9 million in 2021. 

The University’s auxiliary activities are comprised primarily of food service, housing, and bookstore sales. Auxiliary 
activities increased $2.8 million in 2023 primarily from increased housing occupancy rates and a modest increase to 
rental fees. Auxiliary activities increased $1.8 million in 2022 due to a return to normal operations after the COVID-
19 pandemic. 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, sales and services revenue decreased by $1.3 million primarily due to 
lower enrollment. For the year ended September 30, 2022, sales and services revenue remained fairly constant with 
a slight increase of $978 thousand. 

Non-operating grant revenue decreased by $10.4 million in fiscal year 2023 and by $8.1 million in 2022 due to a 
reduction of CARES Act grants compared to 2021.   

Capital gifts, grants, and appropriations increased by $36.4 million due primarily to the receipt of a $20.0 million 
pledge from UAHF for the construction of the Raymond B. Jones Engineering Building and a transfer of $19.6 million 
from the University of Alabama System Office. 

The following is a summary of revenues by source (both operating and non-operating) for the years ended  
September 30: 

2023 2022 2021
State educational appropriations 73,678,125$   18.6% 58,322,523$    17.8% 57,378,734$   17.2%

Net investment income (loss) 14,685,547    3.7% (16,315,109)  -5.0% 22,472,701    6.7%

Grants and contracts 133,491,568   33.8% 141,726,623  43.3% 128,452,849   38.5%

Gifts 6,590,432      1.7% 4,615,976     1.4% 7,868,683      2.4%

Auxiliary 16,140,647    4.1% 13,349,046    4.1% 11,512,344    3.5%

Net tuition and fees 75,728,883    19.2% 75,541,635    23.1% 71,283,876    21.4%

Sales and services 4,032,231      1.0% 5,341,508     1.6% 4,363,351      1.3%

Capital gifts, grants and appropriations 61,886,050    15.7% 25,499,272    7.8% 2,251,361      0.7%

Grant revenue 9,170,783      2.3% 19,528,130    6.0% 27,651,693    8.3%

     Total revenues 395,404,266$ 327,609,604$  333,235,592$ 
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The University is classified by the Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education as R1: Doctoral 
Universities—Very High Research Activity. While operating revenues from federals grants and contracts decreased 
to $125.1 million in fiscal year 2023, UAH’s research prowess continues to remain strong. 

UAH continues to be a beneficiary of federal funding from various agencies for these projects, with the Department 
of Defense (“DOD”) being the primary sponsor. Though DOD funding decreased in fiscal year 2023 due to the 
expiration of various grants and contracts, UAH did experience modest increase in funding from the National 
Aeronautics and Space Administration (“NASA”) and the National Science Foundation (“NSF”). 

The following is a comparison of the University’s operating expenses for the years ended September 30: 

The following chart reflects the funding sources for federal operating grant and contract revenue for the years ended 
September 30: 

Detail of Federal Grants & Contracts Revenue

Years ended September 30
2023 2022 2021

National Aeronautics and
     Space Administration 36,885,602$   33,593,858$   30,037,499$   
Department of Defense 67,472,706   83,532,186  75,968,364    
National Science Foundation 10,827,266   8,432,582   7,653,372   
Department of Education 565,594       420,244   394,048  
Other 9,386,725    7,992,236   7,981,560   

  Total 125,137,893$ 133,971,106$ 122,034,843$ 

2023 2022 2021

Salaries, wages, and benefits 204,316,017$ 188,679,058$ 190,481,360$ 

Supplies and services 72,065,103     78,571,968     71,413,290     

Depreciation 20,326,789     19,336,020     18,273,914     

Scholarships and fellowships 4,212,336       12,911,599     14,399,645     

Total operating expenses 300,920,245$ 299,498,645$ 294,568,209$ 

2023 2022 2021

Instruction 68,980,100$   66,053,947$   66,178,810$   

Research 121,914,988   116,481,315   109,879,760   

Public service 3,867,260     5,830,040    9,753,747    

Academic support 16,094,042   13,081,415  13,095,811  

Student services 18,308,256   20,154,276  18,640,335  

Institutional support 23,674,458   20,840,523  20,958,365  

Operations and maintenance of plant 15,732,384   14,982,342  14,287,985  

Scholarships and fellowships 4,212,336     12,911,599  14,399,645  

Auxiliary enterprises 7,809,632     9,827,168    9,099,837    

Depreciation 20,326,789   19,336,020  18,273,914  

Total operating expenses 300,920,245$ 299,498,645$ 294,568,209$ 

Operating Expenses (by natural classification)

Years ended September 30

Operating Expenses (by functional classification)
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The University reports natural classifications of expenses in the SRECNP. Salaries, wages, and benefits 
increased $15.6 million to $204.3 million in 2023 primarily due to increases in the pension and OPEB expense 
adjustments resulting from GASB Statements No. 68 and 75 and other benefit costs. In 2022, salaries, wages and 
benefits decreased $1.5 million primarily due to pension and OPEB results and other benefit costs.  

Supplies and services decreased $6.5 million in 2023 primarily due to a decrease in grants and contracts activity. 
Supplies and services expenses increased $7.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2022 due to the 
University’s continued growth in federal contracts.  

Scholarships and fellowships expenses represent the residual expense after applying the scholarship allowance 
to gross tuition and fees revenue. The scholarship allowance represents the discount applied to student accounts 
for internal scholarships and financial aid, including Pell grant assistance that is reported as non-operating 
revenue. Scholarships and fellowships decreased $8.7 million in 2023 due to lower enrollment and due to the 
University fully expending COVID-19 emergency financial aid grants in fiscal year 2022. Scholarships and 
fellowships decreased $1.5 million in 2022 due to the University awarding less COVID-19 emergency financial aid 
grants compared to 2021.  

In addition to natural classifications, operating expenses are reported by functional classification as defined by the 
National Association of College and University Business Officers (“NACUBO”). The functional classification of an 
operating expense (Instruction, Research, etc.) is assigned to a department based on the nature of the activity, 
which represents the material portion of the activity attributable to the department. This method reflects, by 
function of the University, amounts expended in areas such as instruction, research, and operations and 
maintenance and is used most commonly for comparative reporting purposes among colleges and universities. 
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Economic Factors That Will Affect the Future 

The University of Alabama in Huntsville enrolled 8,743 students in Fall 2023, a decrease of 494 students from the 
Fall 2022 enrollment of 9,237 students and a 1,257 decrease from the Fall 2020 enrollment of 10,000 students. 
With tuition revenue accounting for 52.5% of the total unrestricted fund budget, the decrease in enrollment has a 
direct impact on the University’s finances. As a result, UAH continues to face challenges in providing attractive 
compensation to recruit and retain top talent in a highly competitive job market. To reverse the declining 
enrollment trend, the University has strategically realigned its Enrollment Management functions from Student 
Affairs to Academic Affairs. The University believes this realignment will foster greater collaboration between 
Enrollment Management and the Academic Colleges to strengthen the University’s student recruitment efforts. In 
addition to realigning the Enrollment Management functions, UAH plans to increase the student retention rate by 
investing resources into academic advising. Due to its high quality academic programs and its extensive research 
portfolio, UAH continues to be the destination of choice for high-achieving students from Alabama, out-of-state, 
and overseas. UAH believes student enrollment will stabilize or even gain modestly in Fall 2024. 

Recurring state educational appropriations accounted for 24.6% of the unrestricted fund budget.  The University 
continues to receive generous support from the Alabama legislature and the Governor. Recurring state 
educational appropriations increased 7.73% in fiscal year 2024, 9.78% in fiscal year 2023, 7.74% in fiscal year 
2022, and 3.41% in fiscal year 2021. These routine increases are needed to cover revenue shortfalls due to the 
decline in the student population. UAH has projected to receive a modest increase in state appropriations in fiscal 
year 2025. In addition to recurring state appropriations, UAH received much needed funding for capital 
improvements in fiscal year 2023 through supplemental appropriations from the legislature including $19.6 million 
for construction of the Raymond B. Jones Engineering Building, $19.2 million for the Education & Advanced 
Training Complex, and $10.0 million in support for cybersecurity research. 

The University continues to sustain its high level of success in generating revenue through federal, state, and 
private grants and contracts. UAH recognized operating revenues from grants and contracts of $133.5 million in 
fiscal year 2023, $141.7 million in fiscal year 2022, $128.5 million in fiscal year 2021, and $112.1 million in fiscal 
year 2020. UAH projects that external research will continue to grow but at a more modest rate. 

In summary, UAH projects recurring state appropriations to increase modestly in 2025 and that external research 
revenue will continue to remain strong and perhaps grow modestly over the next few years. UAH understands that 
growing student enrollment will be critical to maintaining a stable and healthy operating budget since tuition and 
fees comprise such a large proportion of unrestricted revenues. UAH will continue to prioritize and address 
employee compensation to curb higher than normal turnover rates in our highly competitive North Alabama 
market. 
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The University of Alabama in Huntsville

Statements of Net Position

September 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022

Assets

Current Assets:

  Cash and cash equivalents 129,564,474$          95,339,276$     

  Short‐term investments 4,421,381 1,020,292

  Accounts receivable, net 41,497,806 44,147,087

  Leases receivable, current portion 688,974 653,531

  Other current assets 14,960,474 16,966,273

 Total current assets 191,133,109 158,126,459

Noncurrent Assets:

  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,806,928 3,544,701

  Endowment investments 46,531,920 40,928,159

  Investments for capital activities 108,704,155 59,049,583

  Leases receivable 5,795,761 6,486,442

  Capital assets, net 307,152,753 306,061,306

  Other noncurrent assets 12,093,079 3,399,570

 Total noncurrent assets 482,084,596 419,469,761

  Total Assets 673,217,705   577,596,220   

Deferred Outflows of Resources

  Pension and OPEB obligations 115,690,814 90,140,786

  Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 115,690,814   90,140,786   

  Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 788,908,519$     667,737,006$     
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The University of Alabama in Huntsville

Statements of Net Position ‐‐ Continued
September 30, 2023 and 2022

Liabilities and Net Position 2023 2022

Current Liabilities:

     Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 36,146,990$           33,384,575$       

     Unearned revenue 39,727,136 45,709,695

     Current portion of long‐term debt 7,234,920 6,227,786

     Deposits held for others 257,840 441,422

          Total current liabilities 83,366,886 85,763,478

Noncurrent Liabilities:

     Long‐term debt 137,943,528 137,417,128

     Federal advances ‐ loan funds 981,191 808,645

     Pension liability 237,205,000 146,630,000

     OPEB liability 13,303,095 52,882,284

          Total noncurrent liabilities 389,432,814 337,738,057

                 Total Liabilities 472,799,700 423,501,535

Deferred Inflows of Resources

     Leases 5,968,200 6,753,327

     Pension and OPEB obligations 74,463,242 90,439,348

                 Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 80,431,442             97,192,675          

                 Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 553,231,142$         520,694,210$     

Net Position:

Net investment in capital assets 165,912,607 169,013,485

Restricted:

          Nonexpendable 17,887,270 14,731,520

          Expendable 88,142,241 35,530,186

Unrestricted (36,264,741) (72,232,395)

                 Total Net Position 235,677,377 147,042,796

                 Total Liabilities and Net Position 788,908,519$         667,737,006$     

See accompanying notes to financial statements



FINANCIAL REPORT 2023          17 

  THE UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA IN HUNTSVILLE 

The University of Alabama in Huntsville

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022

Operating Revenues

Tuition and fees 116,180,404$        120,448,927$     

     Less: scholarship allowances (40,451,521) (44,907,292)

Tuition and fees, net 75,728,883   75,541,635   

Grants and contracts

    Federal  125,137,893     133,971,106  

    State  5,526,996    5,296,529    

     Private  2,826,679    2,458,988    

Sales and services of educational activities 4,032,231    5,341,508    

Auxiliary, net of $795,249 in 2023 and $1,356,764 in 2022 of scholarship allowances 16,140,647   13,349,046   

   Total Operating Revenues 229,393,329     235,958,812  

Operating Expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 204,316,017     188,679,058  

Supplies and services 72,065,103   78,571,968   

Depreciation 20,326,789   19,336,020   

Scholarships and fellowships 4,212,336    12,911,599   

          Total Operating Expenses 300,920,245     299,498,645  

Operating loss (71,526,916)   (63,539,833)    

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

State educational appropriations 73,678,125   58,322,523   

Private gifts 3,398,143    4,615,976    

Net investment income (loss) 14,685,547   (16,315,109)    

Grant revenue 9,170,783    19,528,130   

Other nonoperating expenses, net (445,794)      (213,736)   

Interest expense (5,403,646)    (5,893,703)     

   Net Nonoperating Revenues  95,083,158   60,044,081   

  Income (loss) before other changes in net position  23,556,242   (3,495,752)     

Other Changes in Net Position

Capital gifts, grants and appropriations 20,401,460   320,000  

State capital funds 2,626,405     7,179,272     

State capital appropriations 19,287,652   18,000,000   

Intergovernmental transfers 19,570,533   ‐    

Additions to permanent endowments 3,192,289     ‐    

   Other changes in net position 65,078,339   25,499,272   

Increase in net position 88,634,581   22,003,520   

   Net Position, Beginning of Year 147,042,796     125,039,276  

   Net Position, End of Year 235,677,377$        147,042,796$     

See accompanying notes to financial  statements
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The University of Alabama in Huntsville

Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Student tuition and fees 71,981,706$      73,959,104$    

Federal grants and contracts 130,728,607   134,966,005

State and local grants and contracts 5,792,946    5,396,493

Private grants and contracts 2,962,694    2,505,398

Sales and services of educational and other departmental activities 3,748,234    4,883,249

Auxiliary enterprises 13,803,753     13,538,195

Payments to suppliers (73,246,011)    (88,665,577)

Payments to employees and related fringes (191,909,666)    (182,857,501)

Payments for scholarships and fellowships (2,198,552)   (10,923,300)

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (38,336,289)   (47,197,934)  

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities

State educational appropriations 73,678,125     58,322,523   

Intergovernmental transfer 19,570,533     ‐   

Private gifts 6,890,432    3,515,976   

Student direct lending receipts 24,405,122     26,982,932   

Student direct lending disbursements (24,310,983)    (26,954,346)  

Amounts received from affiliates ‐    59,240   

Amounts paid to affiliates (11,036)   (80,171)  

Grant revenue 9,170,783    19,528,130   

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities 109,392,976    81,374,284   

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Income distributions from System investment pool 1,836,553    1,780,202   

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 3,035,344    3,680,982   

Purchases of investments (49,270,384)    (3,746,805)  

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities (44,398,487)   1,714,379   

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities

Payments received for lease principal and interest 1,377,723    1,270,162   

Net proceeds from issuance of bonds ‐    1,280,000   

Purchase of capital assets (10,614,318)    (12,953,877)  

Capital gifts, grants and appropriations 8,401,460    320,000   

State capital appropriations 19,287,652     18,000,000   

Principal payments on capital debt (7,100,697)   (6,942,460)  

Interest payments on capital debt (5,522,594)   (5,896,910)  

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Capital and Related Financing Activities 5,829,226   (4,923,085)  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 32,487,425   30,967,644  

 Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year 98,883,977     67,916,333   

 Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year 131,371,402$        98,883,977$      
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Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

 Operating loss (71,526,916)$          (63,539,833)$     

 Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating

 activities:

 Depreciation and amortization expense 19,741,037     18,313,230   

 Pension expense 30,263,769     11,842,739   

 OPEB expense (4,389,089)   2,221,961  

 Adjustment for lease payments (587,171)   (1,024,755)    

 Changes in assets and liabilities:

   Accounts receivable, net 5,607,170    1,899,313  

   Other current assets 2,005,799    2,685,572  

   Pension obligations (14,658,669)    (14,781,769)  

   OPEB obligations (1,746,334)   (1,459,653)    

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  2,936,675    (1,769,814)    

        Unearned revenues (5,982,559)   (1,584,925)    

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (38,336,289)$        (47,197,934)$       

Supplemental Noncash Activities Information

Capital asset purchases accrued at year end 348,284     800,807   

Debt proceeds immediately transferred into escrow 25,735,000     38,878,894   

State capital funds 2,626,405    7,179,272  

Capital assets acquired through leases 8,774,193    ‐   

Capital assets acquired through SBITAs 301,957     1,464,600  
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University of Alabama Huntsville Foundation
Discretely Presented Component Unit
Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 17,585,270$          11,589,259$         

Accrued interest 557,785  514,752 

Total current assets 18,143,055            12,104,011           

Noncurrent assets

Investments 78,563,023            59,218,692           

Investment in real estate 220,969  767,604 

Investment in trust 18,216,740            17,343,929           

Pledges receivable, net 5,153,777              4,680,766             

Trust receivable 242,479  242,479 

Other receivable 418,624  ‐               

Total noncurrent assets 102,815,612          82,253,470           

Total Assets 120,958,667$       94,357,481$         

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 310,198$                376,330$               

Annuity payable 79,157          78,849

Income tax payable 830,597  244,028 

Related party payable 32,616          107,592 

Pledge payable, related party 3,000,000              ‐               

Total current liabilities 4,252,568              806,799                 

Noncurrent liabilities

Pledge payable, related party, net of current portion 9,000,000              ‐               

Total noncurrent liabilities 9,000,000              ‐               

Total Liabilities 13,252,568$          806,799$               

Net Position

Unrestricted 54,510,644            46,879,565           

Restricted

Expendable 21,599,867            18,960,768           

Nonexpendable 31,595,588            27,710,349           

Total Net Position 107,706,099          93,550,682           

Total Liabilities and Net Position 120,958,667$       94,357,481$         

See Note 2
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University of Alabama Huntsville Foundation

Discretely Presented Component Unit

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022

2023 2022

Operating Revenues

Contributions 5,825,262$             8,262,152$      

Other Income  299,413 29,246

 Total Operating Revenues 6,124,675   8,291,398   

Operating Expenses

Scholarships to UAH 1,239,535     1,072,760    

Contributions to UAH 21,904,454   2,036,214    

Professional Services 96,510     75,186  

Other Expenses 325,124    309,314    

 Total Operating Expenses 23,565,622     3,493,474   

 Operating (Loss) Income (17,440,947)     4,797,924   

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Investment Income (Loss), Net 26,515,060   (1,210,131)    

Rent Income 1,400    21,410  

Equity in earnings of trust 6,396,999     2,593,859    

Change in value of split‐interest agreement (11,297)     52,565  

Income tax expense (1,305,797)    (540,905)   

 Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 31,596,365     916,798  

 Increase in net position 14,155,418   5,714,722    

 Net Position, Beginning of Year 93,550,682   87,835,960   

 Net Position, End of Year 107,706,100$        93,550,682$       

See Note 2
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Note 1 – Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Financial Reporting Entity - The University of Alabama in Huntsville (the “University”) is one of three universities of 
The University of Alabama System (the “System”), a component unit of the State of Alabama (the “State”). These 
financial statements include individual schools, colleges and departments, and certain affiliated operations 
determined to be a part of the University’s financial reporting entity. The financial statements of the University are 
intended to present the financial position, the changes in financial position, and the cash flows of only that portion of 
the business-type activities of the financial reporting entity of the System that is attributable to the transactions of the 
University. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the System, its changes in 
financial position, or its cash flows. The System is recognized as an organization exempt from federal income tax 
under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal 
Revenue Code. 
 
Scope of Statements - The University follows Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 
61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus-an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34 (“GASB 61”). 
This Statement provides additional guidance in determining whether certain organizations affiliated with the 
University should be considered component units of the University for financial reporting purposes. The Statement 
also provides guidance on determining whether component units should be presented in the University’s financial 
statements as “blended” or “discrete” components based on their relationship and organizational structure. 
 
As defined by generally accepted accounting principles established by the GASB, the financial reporting entity 
consists of the University, as well as its discretely presented component unit, the University of Alabama Huntsville 
Foundation (“UAHF”). 
 
UAHF is a legally separate, tax-exempt component unit of the University. UAHF is organized exclusively for 
charitable, scientific, and educational purposes in order to benefit the University. UAHF is governed by a 33-member 
board of trustees. Although the University does not control the timing or amount of receipts from UAHF, the majority 
of resources or income that UAHF holds and invests are restricted to the activities of the University by the donors. 
Because these restricted resources held by UAHF can only be used by, or for the benefit of, the University, UAHF is 
considered a component unit of the University. UAHF is reported in separate financial statements because it does 
not meet the criteria to be blended with the University as described in GASB 61. 
 
UAHF is a not-for-profit organization that reports its financial results under the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (“FASB”) Statements. Most significant to UAHF’s operations and reporting model is Accounting Standards 
Codification (ASC) 958, Not-for-Profit Entities. As such, certain presentation features are different from GASB 
presentation features.  
 
While no modifications have been made to UAHF’s financial information in the University’s financial reporting entity 
for recognition or accounting differences, certain modifications have been made to the presentation and captioning 
of UAHF’s financial statements in the University’s financial reporting entity to conform with the University’s financial 
statement presentation. Significant note disclosures (see Note 2) to UAHF’s financial statements have been 
incorporated into the University’s notes to the financial statements. During fiscal years 2023 and 2022, UAHF 
distributed $23,143,989 and $3,108,974, respectively, to or for the University for both restricted and unrestricted 
purposes. Complete financial statements for UAHF are available by phoning (256) 824-6350. 
 
The University is also affiliated with the Alabama Engineering Foundation and The University of Alabama in 
Huntsville Research and Technology Corporation (the “RTC”). These entities do not meet the definition of 
component units under GASB guidance. Therefore, they have not been included within the University’s financial 
statements. 

Notes to Financial Statements 
Years Ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 



FINANCIAL REPORT 2023          23 

  THE UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA IN HUNTSVILLE 

Implementation of New Standards - During fiscal year 2023, UAH adopted GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-
Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA), which is a contract that conveys control of the right to use 
another party’s information technology software. The statement requires a government to recognize a right-to-use 
subscription asset and a corresponding subscription liability. The adoption of GASB Statement No. 96 has been 
reflected at the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements, or October 1, 2021, resulting in 
an increase (decrease) to the following line items within UAH’s financial statements for the year ended September 
30, 2022: 

As Previously 
Reported

Effect of 
Adoption of 
GASB 96 As Restated

Statement of Net Position

Noncurrent Assets
Capital assets, net 304,570,362$  1,490,944$     306,061,306$  

Total noncurrent assets 417,978,817$  1,490,944$     419,469,761$  

Total assets 576,105,276$  1,490,944$     577,596,220$  

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 33,348,728$    35,847$      33,384,575$   
Current portion of long-term debt 5,774,000      453,786  6,227,786$     

Total current liabilities 85,273,845$    489,633$    85,763,478$   

Noncurrent Liabiliites
Long-term debt 136,400,449$  1,016,679$     137,417,128$  

Total noncurrent liabilities 336,721,378$  1,016,679$     337,738,057$  

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 169,028,853$  (15,368)$     169,013,485$  

Total net position 147,058,164$  (15,368)$     147,042,796$  

As Previously 
Reported

Effect of Adoption 
of GASB 96 As Restated

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in 
Net Position

Operating Expenses

Supplies and services 78,992,740$    (420,772)$     78,571,968$    
Depreciation 18,948,582$    387,438$    19,336,020$    

Total Operating Expenses 299,531,979$    (33,334)$    299,498,645$    
Operating loss (63,573,167)$     33,334$  (63,539,833)$     

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Interest expense (5,845,001)$     (48,702)$    (5,893,703)$     

Net Nonoperating Revenues 60,092,783$    (48,702)$    60,044,081$    
Loss before other changes in net position (3,480,384)$     (15,368)$    (3,495,752)$     

Increase in net position 22,018,888$    (15,368)$    22,003,520$    
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Certain notes to the financial statements for the period ended September 30, 2022 have been restated due to 
the adoption of GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. 

Basis of Accounting: For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special-purpose 
government engaged only in business-type activities as defined by GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial 
Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for Public Colleges and Universities, an 
amendment of GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial  Statements – and Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis – for State and Local Governments. Business-type activities are those that are financed in whole or in 
part by fees charged to external parties for goods or services. Revenues are recognized when earned, and 
expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred. The University is not a separate legal entity from 
the System and therefore, management is not required to and has not performed a going concern analysis at 
the University level.  

As Previously 
Reported

Effect of Adoption of 
GASB 96 As Restated

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Payments to suppliers (89,086,349)$ 420,772$     (88,665,577)$ 

Net cash used in operating activities (47,618,706)$ 420,772$     (47,197,934)$ 

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of capital assets (13,967,420)$ 1,013,543$     (12,953,877)$ 
Principal payments on capital debt (5,521,000)$   (1,421,460)$      (6,942,460)$   
Interest payments on capital debt (5,884,055)   (12,855)$     (5,896,910)  

Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing Activities (4,502,313)$   (420,772)$       (4,923,085)$   

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities
Operating loss (63,573,167)$ 33,334$     (63,539,833)$ 
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating 
activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 17,925,792$   387,438$     18,313,230$   
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (47,618,706)$ 420,772$     (47,197,934)$ 

Supplemental Noncash Activities Information
Capital assets acquired through SBITAs -$  1,464,600$   1,464,600$    
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Accordingly, the financial statements of the University have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America, as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (“GASB”), using the economic measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. 

Net Position: Net position is classified into the following four categories according to external donor restrictions or 
availability of assets for satisfaction of University obligations: 

 Net investment in capital assets: Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and outstanding principal
balances of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.

 Restricted:

Nonexpendable – Net position subject to externally imposed stipulations that they be maintained 
permanently by the University. Such assets include the corpus of the University’s permanent endowment 
funds.  

Expendable – Net position, which when used by the University, is subject to externally imposed stipulations 
that can be fulfilled by actions of the University pursuant to those stipulations or that expire with the passage 
of time. 

 Unrestricted: Net position which is not subject to externally imposed stipulations. Unrestricted net position may
be designated for specific purposes by action of management. Substantially all unrestricted net position is
internally designated for academic, research, public service, and capital programs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents: For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the University considers all highly liquid 
investments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents representing 
assets of the University’s endowment, life income, investments for capital activities and other long-term investments 
are included in the noncurrent investments category. 

Investments: The University’s investment portfolio is primarily invested in investment pools maintained by The 
University of Alabama System. Fair value for the investment pools is determined by the System, based on the fair 
value of the underlying investment securities held by each investment pool. Fair value of the underlying securities 
held in each investment pool is based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes, where available, or determined 
using net asset values provided by underlying investment partnerships or companies. Fair value for investments 
held directly by the University is determined from quoted market prices or market prices of similar instruments. Net 
investment income or loss, including realized and unrealized gains and losses, is reported as non-operating 
revenues (expenses) in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position. 

Investments are reported in three categories in the statement of net position. Investments recorded as endowment 
investments are those invested funds that cannot be used to fund current operations and thus are included in 
noncurrent assets. Investments for capital activities are included in noncurrent assets, except for amounts included 
in current assets to offset current construction-related payables. All other investments are included as short-term 
investments. 

Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable consist primarily of tuition and fees charged to students, and amounts 
due from the federal government, state and local governments, or private sources in connection with reimbursement 
of allowable expenditures made pursuant to the University’s grants and contracts. Accounts receivable are recorded 
net of estimated uncollectible amounts.  

Compensated Absences: The University accrues annual leave for employees at rates based upon length of 
service and job classification and compensatory time based upon job classification and years worked.  

Capital Assets: Capital assets are recorded at cost at the date of acquisition, or acquisition value at date of 
donation in the case of gifts, less accumulated depreciation. Leases and SBITAs are recorded at the estimated 
present value of future payments, net of amounts paid in advance and direct costs. For equipment, the University’s 
capitalization policy includes all items with a unit cost of $5,000 or more and an estimated useful life of greater than 
one year. Renovations to buildings, infrastructure, and land improvements that significantly increase the value or 
extend the useful life of the structure are capitalized. Routine repairs and maintenance are charged to operating 
expense in the year in which the expense was incurred.  
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Depreciation of buildings and building improvements (5-40 years), land improvements and infrastructure (10 years), 
library collection (10 years), and inventoried equipment (5-8 years) is computed on a straight-line basis. Assets 
under leases and SBITAs are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or subscription term or the estimated 
useful life of the asset. The University computes depreciation for certain buildings and building improvements using a 
componentized method. 

Collections are recognized as an asset on the accompanying statements of net position in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 35. The University defines collections as works of art or similar assets that are held for public 
exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service rather than financial gain which are protected, kept 
unencumbered, cared for, and preserved. Collection items are recorded at cost as of the date of acquisition or at 
their appraised or acquisition value on the date of donation in the case of gifts. Gains or losses from the sale of 
collection items are reflected on the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.  

Unearned Revenues: Unearned revenues consist primarily of the portion of amounts received for fall semester 
student tuition and fees, and housing fees that are not earned until the next fiscal year. Unearned revenues also 
include amounts received from grant and contract sponsors that have not yet been earned.  

Revenues: The University’s policy for defining operating activities as reported on the statement of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net position are those that generally result from transactions such as payments received 
for providing services, payments made for services or goods received, and from grants and contracts. Certain 
significant revenue streams relied upon to support operations are recorded as non-operating revenues, as defined 
by GASB guidance, including state educational appropriations, private gifts for other than capital purposes, 
investment income, and Federal Pell Grants.  

Auxiliary enterprise revenues are generated primarily by University Housing. Capital gifts are considered neither 
operating nor non-operating activities, and are presented after non-operating activities on the accompanying 
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 

Contract and Grant Revenue: The University receives contract and grant revenues from governmental and private 
sources. The University recognizes revenues associated with the sponsored programs in accordance with GASB 
Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, based on the terms of the 
individual contract or grant. 

Scholarship Allowances and Student Aid: Scholarship allowances applied to student accounts are recorded as 
an offset to student tuition and fees and auxiliary revenue. Payments of financial aid made directly to students are 
classified as scholarship and fellowship expenses.  

Internal Sales Activities: All internal sales activities to the University departments from sales and service units 
(motor pool, postal services, telecommunications, etc.) have been eliminated in the accompanying financial 
statements.  

Federal Refundable Loans: Certain loans to students are administered by UAH with funding primarily supported by 
the federal government. UAH’s statements of net position include both the notes receivable and the related federal 
refundable loan liability representing federal capital contributions owed upon termination of the program.  

Endowment Spending: For donor restricted endowments, the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds 
Act (UPMIFA), as adopted in Alabama, permits The Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama (the Board) to 
appropriate an amount of realized and unrealized endowment appreciation as the Board determines to be prudent. 
UPMIFA also prescribes the guidelines for the expenditure of donor-restricted endowment funds in the absence of 
overriding, explicit donor stipulations.  
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UPMIFA focuses on the entirety of a donor-restricted endowment fund, that is, both the original gift amount(s) and 
net appreciation. UPMIFA includes a robust set of guidelines about what constitutes prudent spending, explicitly 
requiring consideration of the duration and preservation of the fund. The University’s policy is to retain the 
endowment realized and unrealized appreciation with the endowment after the spending rate distributions in a 
manner consistent with the standards of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. The Board has adopted a spending rate 
of 4.5%, based on a moving five-year average of the market (unit) value, and return of gains for underwater 
endowments.  

Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

Revision of Previously Issued Financial Statements: During preparation of the 2023 financial statements, 
management identified an error in the classification of state capital appropriations on the 2022 Statement of Net 
Position. This error resulted in an $18,000,000 understatement of previously reported Restricted Expendable Net 
Position and an $18,000,000 understatement of the deficit in Unrestricted Net Position, but had no impact on 
previously reported Total Net Position. This error had no impact on the 2022 Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position, the 2022 Statement of Cash Flows, or any 2022 disclosures. Management has concluded 
that this error was not material to the previously issued 2022 financial statements, but has revised its 2022 
Statement of Net Position to correct the error. 

Note 2 – Component Unit 

Basis of Accounting – The stand-alone financial statements of UAHF have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as 
prescribed by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).  

Basis of Presentation – Net assets and revenues, expenses, gains and losses are classified based on the 
existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Net assets and changes therein are classified and reported as 
follows in separately issued financial statements:  

Without Donor Restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. Items that affect this 
net asset category include unrestricted gifts and earnings on these unrestricted gifts. In order to comply with GASB 
presentation features, net assets without donor restrictions are presented as unrestricted net position within the 
University’s discrete presentation of this component unit. 

With Donor Restrictions – Net assets with donor restrictions are restricted by a donor for use for a particular 
purpose or in a particular future period. Some donor-imposed restrictions are temporary in nature and the restriction 
will expire when the resources are used in accordance with the donor's instructions, or when the stipulated time has 
passed. When a donor's restriction is met, or has expired, the amounts are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions. Items that affect this net asset category include restricted gifts and earnings on endowment funds 
expendable for purposes stipulated by the donor. In order to comply with GASB presentation features, these net 
assets with donor restrictions for UAHF are presented as restricted expendable net position within the University’s 
discrete presentation of UAHF.  

Some donor-imposed restrictions are to be maintained permanently by the Foundation. These resources include 
gifts wherein donors stipulate that the corpus be held in perpetuity (primarily gifts for endowment) and only the 
income earned on the gifts be made available for expenditure. In order to comply with GASB presentation features, 
net assets with these donor restrictions for UAHF are presented as restricted nonexpendable net position within the 
University’s discrete presentation of UAHF. 

Unrealized and realized gains and losses and dividends and interest from investing in income-producing assets may 
be included in any of these net asset classifications depending on donor restrictions or the absence thereof. 

In accordance with ASC 958-320, Not-for-Profit Entities, investments in debt securities and investments in equity 
securities with readily determinable fair values are reported at their fair values based on published market prices. 
Other investments, including real estate, are stated at cost or fair value at date of donation in the case of gifts. 
Changes in fair values are reported as unrealized gains or losses in the statement of activities. All interest income 
and realized gains and losses are reported in the statement of activities.  
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UAHF invests certain amounts in an investment pool (“Pooled Endowment Fund”) sponsored by The University of 
Alabama System. The value recognized for the investment pool is determined by the System and is based on 
UAHF’s proportionate share of the net asset value of the investment pool. The investment pool invests in various 
investment securities, including both marketable and non-marketable securities.  

During fiscal year 2023, the Foundation reinvested $69,469 in the Liquidity and Capital Reserve Pool Fund (LCRP) 
and  withdrew $1,626,000 from the LCRP to gift to UAH as part of its $20.0 million pledge for the new Raymond B. 
Jones Engineering Building. The LCRP serves as an investment vehicle to manage operating reserves of the System 
universities, hospital, and related entities with an investment strategy that matches the duration of reserves to their 
projected needs. The goals of the pool are to preserve and grow capital, maximize returns without undue exposure to 
risk, and maintain sufficient liquidity for credit ratings. The pool is invested in a diversified asset mix of liquid, semi-
liquid, and illiquid securities. The pool can invest no more than 15% in illiquid assets and must invest no less than 
60% in liquid assets as defined by Board Rule 404. 

Investment in Unconsolidated Entities and Trust Receivable - UAHF is one of several beneficiaries of a trust 
established upon the death in 1974 of one of the University's benefactors. The sole assets of the trust consist of 
ownership interests in two closely-held Huntsville, Alabama businesses named Big Springs, Inc. ("Big Springs") and 
Chambers Bottling Company, LLC ("Chambers"). The trust holds a 70% interest in the common stock of Big Springs 
and a 65% interest in Chambers.  

The trust was established with both lead and remainder beneficiaries. The lead interest in the trust (that is, the rights 
to the income generated by the trust assets) is divided equally among three sets of beneficiaries who hold a lifetime 
interest in those rights. As each lead interest terminates, a proportionate amount of the underlying assets in the trust 
is distributed among two residual beneficiaries, UAHF and another unrelated charitable organization. UAHF's share 
of the residual interest of the trust assets is 90%. UAHF accounts for its residual interest in the trust as an 
unconditional promise to give noncash assets, consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for situations 
where a donee has the eventual right to noncash assets held by a charitable trust but not the cash flows generated 
by them while they are held by the trust. UAHF recorded this interest at fair value as of the date it was awarded in 
1974, and currently carries this interest in the Trust receivable line on UAHF's accompanying statements of financial 
position.  

During fiscal year 2020, one of the income interests terminated; and a pro-rata distribution of the ownership interests 
held by the trust was transferred to the Foundation. As a result of the receipt of these equity interests, the Foundation 
currently holds approximately 42% and 39% of Big Springs and Chambers, respectively. These equity interests allow 
the Foundation to exercise significant influence over Big Springs and Chambers and, accordingly, the Foundation 
accounts for these interests under the equity method of accounting. 

During the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, UAHF recorded its proportionate share of earnings of each 
company (on a combined basis) of $6,396,999 and $2,593,859, respectively. In addition, UAHF received distributions 
from Chambers of $5,459,000 and $1,920,594 in FY 2023 and FY 2022, respectively. UAHF received a distribution 
from Big Springs in the amount of $0 in FY 2023 and $0 in FY 2022.  

Eventually, all of the assets in the trust will be distributed upon the termination of the remaining lead interests, and 
the trust will terminate. At such time, UAHF will hold controlling interests of 63% and 58.5% in Big Springs and 
Chambers, respectively, and will consolidate these entities. UAHF will account for these interests under the equity 
method until the last lead interest is terminated, including the period after the termination of the second lead interest.  

Investments – The following are the cost and reported value of investments as of September 30, 2023 and 2022: 

2023 2022
Reported Value Cost Reported Value Cost

Certificates of deposit 5,828,820$    5,828,820$     
Pooled Endowment Fund 53,095,099 46,624,763 46,828,801$    43,159,200$     
Liquidity and Capital Reserve 2,551,443 3,078,241 3,764,888  4,634,772    
Marketable debt securities 9,933,614 9,947,070 2,595,670  2,731,723    
Marketable equity securities 4,955,208 4,463,921 3,873,829  4,216,664    
Mutual funds 2,198,840 2,431,548 2,155,431  2,459,970    

  Total 78,563,024$   72,374,363$     59,218,619$    57,202,329$     
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This table summarizes the combined financial position and results of operations of Big Springs and Chambers (on a 
combined basis) for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022: 

The Foundation, as a result of a related party donation in fiscal year 2022, holds ownership interests in three 
unconsolidated entities that each hold investment property. During the year ended September 30, 2023, the entities 
sold certain property which resulted in the Foundation receiving funds totaling $51,649 and recognizing a loss of 
$13,359. The Foundation received distributions from the three unconsolidated entities totaling $271,155 in fiscal 
year 2023. The market value of the three unconsolidated entities as of September 30, 2023 is $3,621,591. During 
the year ended September 30, 2022, the contribution of the ownership interest received totaled $4,384,096, which is 
reflected on the statement of activities. The entities sold certain property which resulted in the Foundation receiving 
funds totaling $538,684 and recognizing a loss of $158,633. The market value of the three unconsolidated entities 
as of September 30, 2022 is $3,686,779. 

Income Taxes - The Foundation is a nonprofit corporation that is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 
501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue code for activities related to its exempt purpose. Certain of the Foundation’s 
activities are considered by the Internal Revenue Service to provide unrelated business income and, accordingly, 
income from these activities is subject to federal income tax. The Foundation’s income tax expense totaled 
$1,305,797 and $540,905 for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.  The September 30, 
2023 income tax expense of $1,305,797 consists of total tax payments made during the year of $475,200 and a 
good faith estimate of $830,597 for the fiscal year 2023 tax due. The estimate was made on January 24, 2024 due 
to a delay in tax documents from an unconsolidated entity. Form 990-T will be reviewed and updated once the tax 
documents are received. Entry will be adjusted for actual amount, and should the amount be material, the financial 
statements will be reissued. 

Endowments - The Alabama Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) was enacted by 
the State Legislature and signed into law effective January 1, 2009. UPMIFA prescribes new guidelines for the 
expenditure of a donor-restricted endowment funds in the absence of overriding, explicit donor stipulations. Its 
predecessor, UMIFA, focused on the prudent spending of the net appreciation of the fund. UPMIFA instead focuses 
on the entirety of a donor-restricted endowment fund, that is, both the original gift amount and net appreciation. 
UPMIFA eliminates UMIFA's historic-dollar-value threshold, an amount below which an organization could not 
spend from the fund, in favor of a more robust set of guidelines about what constitutes prudent spending, explicitly 
requiring consideration of the duration and preservation of the fund. UAHF follows guidance provided by the FASB 
relevant to endowments of not-for-profit organizations and the related net asset classification of endowment funds 
subject to an enacted version of UPMIFA and enhanced disclosures for all endowment funds. The earnings 
distributions are appropriated for expenditure by the governing Board of Trustees of UAHF in a manner consistent 
with the standard of prudence prescribed by UPMIFA. In order to conform to the standards for prudent fiduciary 
management of investments, UAHF’s Board of Trustees has adopted endowment investment and spending policies 
that attempt to provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to 
maintain the purchasing power of endowment assets. 

Note 3 – Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Board approves, by resolution, all banks or other financial institutions utilized as depositories for University 
funds. Prior to approval, each proposed depository must provide evidence of its designation by the Alabama State 
Treasurer as a qualified public depository under the Security of Alabama Funds Enhancement Act (SAFE). From 
time to time, the Board may request that the depository provide evidence of its continuing designation as a qualified 
public depository. Under the mandatory SAFE program, each qualified public depository (QPD) is required to hold 
collateral for all its public depositories on a pooled basis in a custody account established for the State Treasurer as 
SAFE administrator. In the unlikely event a public entity should suffer a deposit loss due to QPD insolvency or 
default, a claim form would be filed with the State Treasurer who would use the SAFE pool collateral or other means 
to reimburse the loss.   

2023 2022
Current Assets 30,321,028$ 33,891,106$  
Noncurrent Assets 12,024,466   12,432,839   
Current Liabilities (5,135,642)   (10,824,968)   
Noncurrent Liabilities (1,098,429)   (1,767,769)   

Equity 36,111,423$ 33,731,208$  

Net Sales 79,397,459$ 65,137,496$  
Operating Income 15,278,850$ 6,143,014$    
Net Income 16,370,158$ 6,590,987$    
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As of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the University had cash and cash equivalents totaling $131,371,402 and 
$98,883,977 respectively. Included in the amounts are deposits with trustees held for reserves, which totaled 
$1,806,928 and $3,544,701 in fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Note 4 – Investments 

The University invests its endowment funds in accordance with applicable limitations set forth in gift instruments, 
Board guidelines, or applicable laws. Also certain bond indentures require the University to invest the amounts held 
in specific construction funds, redemption funds, and bond funds in federal securities, eligible certificates, or 
eligible investments. 

The Board has the responsibility for the establishment of the investment policy and the oversight of the investments 
for the System and related entities. In order to facilitate System-wide investment objectives and achieve economies 
of scale, the Board has established two distinct investment pools based primarily on the projected investment time-
horizons for System funds: the Pooled Endowment Fund (“PEF”) and the Liquidity and Capital Reserve Pool Fund 
(“LCRP”); collectively, the “System Pools.” Pursuant to Board investment policies, each System or related entity 
may include all or a portion of their investments within the System-sponsored investment pools. These investment 
funds are considered “internal” investment pools under GASB Statement No. 31, Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools, with the assets pooled on a market value 
basis. Separately managed funds that reside with each entity are to be invested consistent with the asset mix of 
the corresponding System investment pool. The following disclosures relate to both the System Pools, which 
include the investments of other System entities and other affiliated entities, and the University-specific investment 
portfolio. 

Pooled Endowment Fund (PEF): The purpose of the PEF is to pool endowment and similar funds to support the 
System universities, hospital and related entities in carrying out their respective missions over a perpetual time 
frame. Accordingly, the primary investment objectives of the PEF are to preserve the purchasing power of the 
principal and provide a stable source of perpetual financial support to the endowment beneficiaries. To satisfy the 
long-term rate of return objective, the PEF relies on a total return strategy in which investment returns are achieved 
through both capital appreciation and natural income. Asset allocation targets are established to meet the return 
objectives, while providing adequate diversification in order to minimize investment volatility. 

Liquidity and Capital Reserve Pool: The LCRP serves as an investment vehicle to manage operating reserves of 
the System universities, hospital, and related entities with an investment strategy that matches the duration of 
reserves to their projected needs.  The goals of the pool are to preserve and grow capital, maximize returns without 
undue exposure to risk, and maintain sufficient liquidity for credit ratings.  The pool is invested in a diversified asset 
mix of liquid, semi-liquid, and illiquid securities.  The pool can invest no more than 15% in illiquid assets and must 
invest no less than 60% in liquid assets as defined by Board Rule 404.  

Fair Value Measurements: GASB 72 sets forth the framework for measuring fair value. That framework provides 
a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy 
gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 
measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair 
value hierarchy under GASB 72 are described as follows: 

 Level 1 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in
active markets that the University has the ability to access.

 Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation methodology include:

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets;
 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities;
 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or

other means
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 Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.
Unobservable inputs reflect the University’s own assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk). Unobservable inputs are developed based on the
best information available in the circumstances and may include the University’s own data.

GASB 72 allows for the use of net asset value (“NAV”) as a practical expedient for valuation purposes. Investments 
that use NAV in determining fair value are disclosed separately from the valuation hierarchy as presented herein. 

The level within the hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. 
Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable 
inputs.  

The determination of what constitutes observable requires judgment by the University’s management. University 
management considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or 
updated, reliable, and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by multiple independent sources that are actively 
involved in the relevant market. The categorization of an investment within the hierarchy is based upon the relative 
observability of the inputs to its fair value measurement and does not necessarily correspond to University 
management’s perceived risk of that investment. 

The following is a description of the valuation methods and assumptions used by the University to estimate the fair 
value of its investments. There have been no changes in the methods and assumptions used at September 30, 
2023. The methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net realizable value 
or reflective of future fair values. University management believes its valuation methods are appropriate and 
consistent with other market participants. The use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair 
value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 

When available, quoted prices are used to determine fair value. When quoted prices in active markets are available, 
investments are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The University’s Level 1 investments primarily 
consist of investments in mutual funds, exchange traded funds, and both domestic and foreign equity funds.  

During 2023, the University invested excess cash that will be used for future capital expenditures in a Regions Bank 
Government Enhanced Cash Strategy Investment Account. At September 30, 2023, this account held $1,083,759 in 
a money market account that is classified as Level 1 and $45,104,305 of U.S. Treasury Notes and Treasury Bills 
that are classified as Level 2. 
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At September 30, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the University’s investments based on the inputs used to value them 
is summarized as follows: 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Cash & Receivables:

PNC  $      136,276    -       -    $      136,276 
Wind Trust      36,493    -       -     36,493 
Durkee Trust      442,904    -       -     442,904 
Pei Ling Fund for Excellence      500,708    -       -     500,708 
Government-Enhanced Cash 
Strategy Investment Account     1,083,759      45,104,305 - 46,188,064

    2,200,140    -       -    47,304,445 

  46,531,920 
  65,821,091 

 $   159,657,456 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
Cash & Receivables:

Compass  $      136,287    -       -    $      136,287 
Wind Trust      34,249    -       -     34,249 
Durkee Trust      418,119    -       -     418,119 
Pei Ling Fund for Excellence      431,637    -       -     431,637 

    1,020,292    -       -    1,020,292 

  40,928,159 
  59,049,583 

 $   100,998,034 

 Pooled Endowment Fund 
 Liquidity and Capital Reserve Fund 

 Total Net Asset Value with System Pool 

2023

 UAH Portion of System Pool Investments: 
 Pooled Endowment Fund 

 Liquidity and Capital Reserve Fund 

 UAH Portion of System Pool Investments: 

 Total Net Asset Value with System Pool 

2022
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At September 30, 2023 and 2022, the fair value of investments for the System Pools based on the inputs used to value 
them is summarized as follows: 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total Fair Value
Receivables:

Accrued Income Receivables -$  -$  -$  -$  1,004,822$        
Total Receivables -   -  -    -   1,004,822   

Cash Equivalents:
Money Market Funds 82,092,112  -  -    -   82,092,112    

Total Cash Equivalents 82,092,112  -  -    -   82,092,112    

Equities:
U.S. Common Stock 196,255,358   -  -    -   196,255,358   
Foreign Stock 47,800,297  -  -    -   47,800,297    

Total Equities 244,055,655   -  -    -   244,055,655   

Fixed Income Securities:
U.S. Government Obligations - 12,068,968 -    -   12,068,968    
Mortgage Backed Securities - 13,998,021 13,998,021    
Corporate Bonds - 20,296,131 -    -   20,296,131    
Non-U.S. Bonds - 3,892,771 -    -   3,892,771   

Total Fixed Income Securities - 50,255,891 -    -   50,255,891    

Commingled Funds:
U.S. Equity Funds - 65,208,495 -    -   65,208,495    
Non-U.S. Equity Funds - 165,312,862 -    -   165,312,862   
Hedge Funds - - -    716,526,857    716,526,857   
Private Equity Funds - - 1,882,658  485,799,946    487,682,604   

  Real Asset Funds - - 3,095,306  332,524,313    335,619,619   
Total Commingled Funds - 230,521,357 4,977,964  1,534,851,116    1,770,350,437   

Total Fund Investments 326,147,767$     280,777,248$     4,977,964$        1,534,851,116$  2,146,754,095   

Total Fund Assets 2,147,758,917   

Total Fund Liabilities (724,160)   

Affiliated Entity Investments in Funds (307,072,586)  

Total Net Asset Value 1,839,962,171$  

Pooled Endowment Fund
2023
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total Fair Value
Receivables:

Accrued Income Receivables -$  -$  -$  -$  745,691$     
Total Receivables -   -    -     -      745,691   

Cash Equivalents:
Money Market Funds 45,006,743    -    -     -      45,006,743   

Total Cash Equivalents 45,006,743    -    -     -      45,006,743   

Equities:
U.S. Common Stock 140,307,712   -    -     -      140,307,712  
Foreign Stock 30,583,042    -    -     -      30,583,042   

Total Equities 170,890,754   -    -     -      170,890,754  

Fixed Income Securities:
U.S. Government Obligations - 10,282,592 -     -      10,282,592   
Mortgage Backed Securities - 12,621,581 12,621,581   
Corporate Bonds - 21,255,552 -     -      21,255,552   
Non-U.S. Bonds - 4,370,866 -     -      4,370,866     

Total Fixed Income Securities - 48,530,591 -     -      48,530,591   

Commingled Funds:
U.S. Equity Funds - 37,059,134 -     -      37,059,134   
Non-U.S. Equity Funds - 96,076,595 -     -      96,076,595   
Hedge Funds - - -     654,582,348      654,582,348  
Private Equity Funds - - 2,043,040   444,027,507      446,070,547  

   Real Asset Funds - - 4,652,000   345,261,463      349,913,463  
Total Commingled Funds - 133,135,729 6,695,040   1,443,871,318   1,583,702,087    

Total Fund Investments 215,897,497$     181,666,320$     6,695,040$        1,443,871,318$  1,848,130,175    

Total Fund Assets 1,848,875,866    

Total Fund Liabilities (468,780)  

Affiliated Entity Investments in Funds (276,714,171)      

Total Net Asset Value 1,571,692,915$  

Pooled Endowment Fund
2022
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total Fair Value
Receivables:

Accrued Income Receivables -$  -$  -$  -$  7,759,723$        
Total Receivables -   -    -     -      7,759,723     

Cash Equivalents:
Money Market Funds 40,904,062    -    -     -      40,904,062   

Total Cash Equivalents 40,904,062    -    -     -      40,904,062   

Equities:
U.S. Common Stock 516,663,547   -    -     -      516,663,547  
Foreign Stock 86,028,713    -    -     -      86,028,713   

Total Equities 602,692,260   -    -     -      602,692,260  

Fixed Income Securities:
U.S. Government Obligations - 289,033,443 -     -      289,033,443  
Mortgage Backed Securities - 220,244,106 -     -      220,244,106  
Collateralized Mortgage Obligation - 16,737,264 -     -      16,737,264   
Corporate Bonds - 214,097,075 -     -      214,097,075  
Non-U.S. Bonds - 88,577,042 -     -      88,577,042   
Other Fixed Income Assets - 7,257,193 -     -      7,257,193     

Total Fixed Income Securities - 835,946,123 -     -      835,946,123  

Commingled Funds:
U.S. Equity Funds - 118,765,609 -     -      118,765,609  
Non-U.S. Equity Funds - 200,099,176 -     -      200,099,176  
U.S. Bond Funds - 451,679,478 -     -      451,679,478  
Hedge Funds - - -     1,152,378,614   1,152,378,614    
Real Asset Funds - - -     223,207,527      223,207,527  

Total Commingled Funds - 770,544,263 - 1,375,586,141 2,146,130,404    

Total Fund Investments 643,596,322$     1,606,490,386$  -$     1,375,586,141$  3,625,672,849    

Total Fund Assets 3,633,432,572    

Total Fund Liabilities (1,191,854)    

Affiliated Entity Investments in Funds (237,445,251)      

Total Net Asset Value 3,394,795,467$  

Liquidity and Capital Reserved Pool Fund
2023



36     FINANCIAL REPORT 2023       

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA IN HUNTSVILLE 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total Fair Value
Receivables:

Accrued Income Receivables -$            -$  -$  -$  5,962,851$        
Total Receivables -       -     -  -           5,962,851       

Cash Equivalents:
Money Market Funds 44,987,405    -     -  -           44,987,405     

Total Cash Equivalents 44,987,405    -     -  -           44,987,405     

Equities:
U.S. Common Stock 385,970,310   -     -  -           385,970,310    
Foreign Stock 60,037,640    -     -  -           60,037,640     

Total Equities 446,007,950   -     -  -           446,007,950    

Fixed Income Securities:
U.S. Government Obligations - 227,749,680 -  -           227,749,680    
Mortgage Backed Securities - 207,578,465 -  -           207,578,465    
Collateralized Mortgage Obligation - 18,211,357 -  -           18,211,357     
Corporate Bonds - 201,087,489 -  -           201,087,489    
Non-U.S. Bonds - 94,105,656 -  -           94,105,656     
Other Fixed Income Assets - 6,877,721 -  -           6,877,721       

Total Fixed Income Securities - 755,610,368 -  -           755,610,368    

Commingled Funds:
U.S. Equity Funds - 118,141,348 -  -           118,141,348    
Non-U.S. Equity Funds - 171,024,233 -  -           171,024,233    
U.S. Bond Funds - 372,671,133 -  -           372,671,133    
Hedge Funds - - -  1,121,752,329    1,121,752,329    
Real Asset Funds - - -  228,743,023       228,743,023    

Total Commingled Funds - 661,836,714 - 1,350,495,352 2,012,332,066    

Total Fund Investments 490,995,355$     1,417,447,082$  -$     1,350,495,352$  3,258,937,789    

Total Fund Assets 3,264,900,640    

Total Fund Liabilities (1,094,294)      

Affiliated Entity Investments in Funds (230,500,974)   

Total Net Asset Value 3,033,305,372$  

Liquidity and Capital Reserved Pool Fund
2022
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Additional information on fair values, unfunded commitments, remaining life, and redemption for investments measured 
at the NAV at September 30, 2023 and 2022 is as follows: 

September 30, 2023

Fair Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Remaining 

Life
Redemption Notice 

Period Redemption Restrictions

Hedge funds - absolute return, credit, 716,526,857$    14,251,160$   No limit
Monthly,Quarterly, 
and Annually

Lock-up provisions ranging 
from none to 2 years

  long/short equities

Private equity - private credit, buyouts, 485,799,946  268,537,638  1-15 years
Partnerships ineligible 
for redemption Not redeemable

 venture, secondary

Real assets - public real estate, natural 41,700,197  - No limit Monthly and Quarterly None
resources, and infrastructure

Real assets - private real estate, natural 290,824,116  88,090,197  1-15 years
Partnerships ineligible 
for redemption Not redeemable

resources, and infrastructure

1,534,851,116$  370,878,995$    

September 30, 2022

Fair Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Remaining 

Life
Redemption Notice 

Period Redemption Restrictions

Hedge funds - absolute return, credit, 654,582,348$    36,000,000.00$   No limit
Monthly,Quarterly, 
and Annually

Lock-up provisions ranging 
from none to 2 years

  long/short equities

Private equity - private credit, buyouts, 444,027,507  210,125,649  1-15 years
Partnerships ineligible 
for redemption Not redeemable

 venture, secondary

Real assets - public real estate, natural 57,784,904  - No limit Monthly and Quarterly None
resources, and infrastructure

Real assets - private real estate, natural 287,476,559  102,280,510  1-15 years
Partnerships ineligible 
for redemption Not redeemable

resources, and infrastructure

1,443,871,318$  348,406,159$    

Pooled Endowment Fund

Pooled Endowment Fund
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September 30, 2023

Fair Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Remaining 

Life
Redemption Notice 

Period Redemption Restrictions

Hedge funds - absolute return, credit, 1,152,378,614$   26,720,926$      No limit
Monthly,Quarterly, 
and Annually

Lock-up provisions ranging 
from none to 2 years

  long/short equities

Real assets - public real estate, natural 223,207,527      - No limit Monthly and Quarterly None
resources, and infrastructure

1,375,586,141$   26,720,926$      

September 30, 2022

Fair Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Remaining 

Life
Redemption Notice 

Period Redemption Restrictions

Hedge funds - absolute return, credit, 1,121,752,329$   67,500,000.00$ No limit
Monthly,Quarterly, 
and Annually

Lock-up provisions ranging 
from none to 2 years

  long/short equities

Real assets - public real estate, natural 228,743,023      - No limit Monthly and Quarterly None
resources, and infrastructure

1,350,495,352$   67,500,000.00$ 

Liquidity and Capital Reserve Pool

Liquidity and Capital Reserve Pool
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Investment Risk Factors: Many factors can affect the value of investments. Some, such as custodial credit risk, 
concentration of credit risk and foreign currency risk, may affect both equity and fixed income securities. 

Equity securities respond to such factors as economic conditions, individual company earnings performance and 
market liquidity, while fixed income securities are particularly sensitive to credit risks and changes in interest rates.  

Credit Risk: Fixed income securities are subject to credit risk, which is the chance that a bond issuer will fail to pay 
interest or principal in a timely manner, or that negative perceptions of the issuer’s ability to make these payments will 
cause security prices to decline. These circumstances may arise due to a variety of factors such as financial 
weakness, bankruptcy, litigation, and/or adverse political developments. Certain fixed income securities, primarily 
obligations of the U.S. government or those explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government, are not considered to have 
significant credit risk.  

The investment policy recognizes that credit risk is appropriate in balanced investment pools such as the PEF and 
LCRP, and the credit quality of underlying fund investments is monitored on an ongoing basis.  Fixed income 
investments within the PEF and LCRP include corporate, mortgage backed, asset backed, collateralized mortgage 
and U.S. treasury and/or agency bonds. In addition, approximately $190.1 million and $180.3 million in the PEF and 
LCRP, collectively, at September 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, is invested in unrated fixed income securities, 
excluding fixed income commingled funds. Fixed income commingled funds and money market funds were 
approximately $574.7 million and $462.7 million in the PEF and LCRP, collectively, at September 30, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. 

The credit risk for fixed and variable income securities, for the System Pools, at September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as 
follows: 

Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a corporate failure of a custodian, the in-
vestment securities may not be returned. Investment securities in the System Pools and UAH’s separately held in-
vestments are registered in the Board’s name by the custodial bank as an agent for the System. Other types of in-
vestments (i.e. open-ended mutual funds, money market funds) represent ownership interests that do not exist in 
physical or book-entry form. As a result, custodial credit risk is remote. 

2023 2022 2023 2022
Fixed or Variable Income Securities 
 U.S. Government Obligations 12,068,968$     10,282,592$    289,033,443$     227,749,680$       
 Other U.S. and Non-U.S. Denominated:

AAA 1,444,806     1,111,407   35,779,230  28,847,345    
AA 763,308    777,166   38,107,146  42,527,588    
A 7,561,794  8,524,786    148,052,814    143,652,806   

BBB 10,993,260    12,054,784  129,358,721    124,110,357   
BB 3,993,984  3,940,529    6,707,732   6,363,702   
B 495,051    - 8,090,491 9,672,564   

C and < C -   -  3,635,591 4,226,053   
Unrated 12,934,720    11,839,327  177,180,955    168,460,273   

Commingled Funds: - -  
 U.S. Bond Funds: Unrated -    -  451,679,478    372,671,133   
 Money Market Funds: Unrated 82,092,112    45,006,743  40,904,062  44,987,405    

Total 132,348,003$      93,537,334$    1,328,529,663$  1,173,268,906$    

Pooled Endowment Fund LCRP Fund
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Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk associated with a lack of diversification, 
such as having substantial investments in a few individual issuers, thereby exposing the organization to greater 
risks resulting from adverse economic, political, regulatory, geographic, or credit developments. As previously 
mentioned, credit risk in each investment pool and UAH’s separately held portfolio is managed primarily by 
diversifying across issuers and limiting the amount of portfolio assets that can be invested in non-investment 
grade securities. As of September 30, 2023 and 2022, there was no investment in a single issuer that 
represents 5% or more of total investments held by any single investment manager of the System Pools or 
UAH’s separately held investment portfolio, except for investments issued by the U.S. government and money 
market fund investments.  

Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of fixed income securities will decline because of 
changing interest rates. The prices of fixed income securities with a longer time to maturity, measured by 
effective duration, tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest rates and, therefore, more volatile than those 
with shorter durations. Effective duration is the approximate change in price of a security resulting from a 100 
basis point (1 percentage point) change in the level of interest rates. It is not a measure of time. The Board does 
not have a specific policy relative to interest rate risk. As such, there are no restrictions on weighted average 
maturity for each investment pool as they are managed relative to the investment objectives and liquidity 
demands of the investors.  

The effective durations for fixed or variable income securities held by the System Pools at September 30, 2023 
and 2022 are as follows: 

Investments may also include mortgage pass through securities and collateralized mortgage obligations that may 
be considered to be highly sensitive to changes in interest rates due to the existence of prepayment or conversion 
features. As of September 30, 2023 and 2022 the fair market value of these investments held by the System 
Pools are as follows: 

Mortgage Backed Securities: These securities are issued by the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie 
Mae”), Government National Mortgage Association (“Ginnie Mae”) and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Association 
(Freddie Mac) and include short embedded prepayment options. Unanticipated prepayments by the obligees of the 
underlying assets reduce the total expected rate of return. 

2023 2022 2023 2022
U.S. Government Obligations 8.3 10.2 3.8 3.8
Corporate Bonds 4.7 5.0 2.2 2.4
Non-U.S. Bonds 4.7 5.0 2.2 2.4
Commingled Bond Funds -    -      3.4 2.8
Other Fixed Income -    -      (0.1) -

Pooled Endowment Fund  LCRP Fund

2023 2022 2023 2022
Mortgage Backed Securities 13,998,021$     12,621,581$       220,244,106$    207,578,465$     
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations -  -  16,737,264       18,211,357        

Total Fixed 13,998,021$     12,621,581$       236,981,370$    225,789,822$     

Pooled Endowment Fund LCRP Fund

The effective durations for fixed or variable income securities for UAH’s separately held investments at 
September 30, 2023 and 2022 are as follows: 

2023 2022
U.S. Government Obligations 0.6 -  

Government Enhanced 
Cash Strategy Investment
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Collateralized Mortgage Obligations: Collateralized mortgage obligations (“CMOs”) generate a return based upon 
either the payment of interest or principal on mortgages in an underlying pool. The relationship between interest 
rates and prepayments makes the fair value highly sensitive to changes in interest rates. In falling interest rate 
environments, the underlying mortgages are subject to a higher propensity of prepayments. In a rising interest rate 
environment, the opposite is true.  

As of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the effective durations for securities held in the System Pools are as follows: 

There are no mortgage backed securities or CMOs in UAH’s separately held investments at September 30, 2023 
and 2022. 

Foreign Currency Risk: The strategic asset allocation policy for the PEF, the LCRP, and UAH’s separately held 
investments includes an allocation to non-United States equity securities and fixed income securities. Currency 
hedging of foreign bonds and stocks is allowed under System Policy. As of September 30, 2023 and 2022 all foreign 
investments in the System Pools and UAH’s separately held investments are denominated in U.S. dollars and are in 
international commingled funds, which in turn invest in equity securities and bonds of foreign issuers except for 
foreign stock and non-U.S. bond funds denominated in U.S. dollars and held by each of the two pools as disclosed 
in the previous tables. At September 30, 2023 and 2022,  the University did not hold any foreign securities in its 
separately held investment portfolio. 

Securities Lending: The System permits security lending as a mechanism to augment income. Loans of the 
securities are required to be collateralized by cash, letters of credit or securities issued or guaranteed by the U.S. 
Government or its agencies. The collateral must equal at least 102% of the current market value of the loaned 
securities. Securities lending contracts must state acceptable collateral for securities loaned, duties of the borrower, 
delivery of loaned securities and acceptable investment of the collateral. At September 30, 2023 and 2022, there 
were no securities on loan from the investment pools.  

2023 2022 2023 2022
Mortgage Backed Securities 6.7     6.6  3.2  3.3   
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations - -   3.8  4.3   

Pooled Endowment Fund  LCRP Fund
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Note 5 – Receivables 

Pledges: The University receives pledges and bequests of financial support. Revenue is recognized when a pledge 
representing an unconditional promise to give is received and all eligibility requirements, including time 
requirements, have been met. In the absence of such a promise, revenue is recognized when the gift is received. 
Pledges are recorded at their gross, undiscounted amount, net of a reasonable allowance for doubtful accounts. 
Endowment pledges do not meet eligibility requirements and are not recorded as assets until the related gift is 
received. Due to uncertainties with regard to their realization and valuation, bequest intentions and other conditional 
promises are not recognized as assets until the specified conditions are met.  

The composition of accounts receivable as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 is summarized as follows: 

Leases Receivable: Leases receivable consist of amounts due from federal and private entities for the leasing of 
UAH-owned facilities and land.  

The composition of leases receivable as of September 30, 2023 and 2022 is summarized as follows: 

2023 2022
Leases receivable 6,484,735$   7,139,974$   
Less: current portion (688,974)  (653,531)   

Total Leases receivable, noncurrent 5,795,761$   6,486,443$   

2023 2022
Tuition and fees 14,265,810$     13,643,756$    
Federal, state, and private grants and contracts 25,173,700  31,693,493  
Pledge receivable 3,400,000    200,000  
Other 1,257,567    1,192,140  
Total accounts receivable 44,097,077  46,729,389  
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (2,599,271)   (2,582,302)   

Accounts receivable, net 41,497,806$       44,147,087$    
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Note 6 – Capital Assets 

Capital assets activity for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is summarized as follows: 

October 1, September 30,
2022 Additions Retirements Adjustments 2023

Land 14,050,899$      -$ -$ -$ 14,050,899$    
Land improvements and infrastructure 28,212,656      2,775,717        - -      30,988,373
Buildings and building improvements 468,924,357    459,904 - 4,983,493 474,367,754
Construction in progress 4,877,938       2,236,324        - (4,877,938) 2,236,324
Equipment 87,753,561      7,210,980        (5,168,825)      (19,193)         89,776,523
Library books 26,907,813      124,146 (4,606)            - 27,027,353
Software 3,550,401       - (3,444,846) (105,555)       - 
Right of use assets - Leases - 8,774,193 -         -      8,774,193
Right of use assets - SBITAs 3,030,364       301,957 -         -      3,332,321
Collections 1,199,402       -            -         -      1,199,402
     Total cost of capital assets 638,507,391 21,883,220 (8,618,277) (19,193)         651,753,140

     Less accumulated depreciation 332,446,084 20,326,789 (8,172,486) 344,600,387
Capital assets, net 306,061,307$    1,556,431$      (445,793)$       (19,193)$        307,152,753$  

October 1, September 30,
2021 Additions Retirements Adjustments 2022

Land 14,050,899$      -$ -$ -$ 14,050,899$    
Land improvements and infrastructure 23,579,902      4,632,754        - -      28,212,656
Buildings and building improvements 462,445,400    7,538,432        (1,059,475)      - 468,924,357
Construction in progress 2,332,774       2,545,164        -         -      4,877,938
Equipment 84,353,066      5,279,138        (1,878,643)      - 87,753,561
Library books 26,827,199      107,348 (26,734)          - 26,907,813
Software 3,217,374       333,027 -         -      3,550,401
Right of use assets - SBITAs 1,565,764       1,464,600        -         -      3,030,364
Collections 1,184,402       15,000   -         -      1,199,402
     Total cost of capital assets 619,556,780 21,915,463 (2,964,852) - 638,507,391

     Less accumulated depreciation 315,861,182 19,336,020 (2,751,118) - 332,446,084
Capital assets, net 303,695,598$    2,579,443$      (213,734)$       -$      306,061,306$  



44     FINANCIAL REPORT 2023       

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA IN HUNTSVILLE 

Note 7 – Long-Term Debt 

Long-term debt activity for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022 is summarized as follows: 

Maturities and interest on general fee revenue bonds and other obligations for the next five years and subsequent 
five-year periods ended September 30 are as follows: 

October 1, New Principal September 30,
Type/Supported by 2022 Debt Repayment 2023

Bonds:
General fee revenue 131,180,000 25,735,000$  31,315,000 125,600,000
Other obligations 1,684,095 9,032,474  1,326,697 9,389,872
 Total debt 132,864,095   34,767,474    32,641,697    134,989,872    

Less current portion (6,227,786) (7,234,920)
Premium, net 10,780,819 10,188,576
Total long-term debt 137,417,128$ 137,943,528$    

October 1, New Principal September 30,
Type/Supported by 2021 Debt Repayment 2022

Bonds:
General fee revenue 135,227,000 38,930,000$  42,977,000 131,180,000
Other obligations 1,834,954 1,464,601  1,615,460  1,684,095
 Total debt 137,061,954   40,394,601    44,592,460    132,864,095    

Less current portion (5,521,000) (6,227,786)
Premium, net 11,798,687 10,780,819
Total long-term debt 143,339,641$ 137,417,128$    

General Revenue Bonds

Principal Interest Total
2024 5,942,000   4,793,244     10,735,244     
2025 6,193,000   4,594,487     10,787,487     
2026 6,480,000   4,386,244     10,866,244     
2027 6,740,000   4,162,647     10,902,647     
2028 5,035,000   3,967,581     9,002,581     

2029-2033 25,445,000     16,931,807   42,376,807     
2034-2038 24,970,000     12,210,913   37,180,913     
2039-2043 27,885,000     7,324,758     35,209,758     
2044-2048 16,910,000     2,619,000     19,529,000     

125,600,000$ 60,990,680$ 186,590,680$ 

Lease & SBITA Obligations

Principal Interest Total
2024 1,292,920   436,822      1,729,743    
2025 1,271,650   380,006      1,651,656    
2026 1,159,702   323,092      1,482,794    
2027 1,183,818   268,024      1,451,842    
2028 1,153,962   213,703      1,367,666    

2029-2033 3,327,819   467,427      3,795,246    
2034-2038 -      -     -   
2039-2043 -      -     -   
2044-2048 -      -     -   

9,389,872$ 2,089,075$   11,478,947$ 
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The following is a detailed schedule of long-term debt: 

The University’s general fee bonds are subject to certain covenants. These covenants, among other things, require 
the University to establish and maintain reasonable fees, rates, and other charges to ensure pledged revenues are 
sufficient for debt service coverage; to maintain books and records pertaining to the pledged revenues; to furnish 
annual audits and other periodic reports that reflect the financial condition of the University, the project, other 
pledged facilities, and other pledged assets; and to comply with certain restrictions as to additional indebtedness. 
The University is in compliance with all restrictive financial covenants as of September 30, 2023. 

During fiscal year 2022, the University redeemed and retired, by exchange, its General Fee Revenue Refunding 
Bonds Series 2012-A Bond (the “2012-A Bond”) with its Series 2022-B Bond, redeemed and retired, by exchange, 
its General Fee Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2012-B (the “2012-B Bond”) with its Series 2022-C Bond, and 
refunded and retired its General Fee Revenue Bonds, Series 2013-A2 Bonds (the “2013-A2 Bonds”) with the 
issuance of its Taxable General Fee Revenue Bond, Series 2022-A. The amounts outstanding on the Series 2012-
A Bond and the Series 2012-B Bond were redeemed and retired in March 2022 and resulted in a reduction of 
interest payments totaling $1.1 million. The amounts outstanding on the Series 2013-A2 Bonds were defeased in 
February 2022 for economic savings. The undiscounted cash flows required to service principal and interest under 
the old Series 2012-A bonds as of September 30, 2022 would have been $37.5 million compared to undiscounted 
cash flow requirements of $32.7 million under the new Series 2022-A bonds. The undiscounted cash flows 
required to service principal and interest under the old Series 2012-B and 2013A-2 bonds as of September 30, 
2022 would have been $1.7 million compared to undiscounted cash flow requirements of $1.6 million under the 
new Series 2022-B and 2022-C bonds. The economic gain to the University from the bond refinancing in fiscal 
year 2022 was calculated to be approximately $3.9 million for the 2012-A bond refinancing using an effective 
interest rate of 2.24% applied to the old and new bond cash flow requirements and $799 thousand for the 2012-B 
and 2013-A2 bond refinancing using an effective interest rate of 1.76% applied to the old and new bond cash flow 
requirements.  

Outstanding Outstanding
Indebtedness Indebtedness

Date Final Interest Original September 30, September 30,
Description and Purpose Issued Maturity Rate - % Indebtedness 2023 2022

Bonds Payable:
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2013-A-1 4/4/2013 4/1/2023 1.57 7,550,000  - 810,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2014-A 12/15/2014 9/1/2034 3.00-5.00 11,860,000    6,650,000    7,120,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2015-A 3/25/2015 6/1/2025 1.96 5,175,000  1,115,000    1,655,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2018-A-1 3/22/2018 9/1/2027 5.00 5,400,000  2,695,000    3,290,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2018-A-2 3/22/2018 9/1/2048 5.00 27,115,000    27,115,000  27,115,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2018-B-1 10/30/2018 9/1/2028 5.00 5,290,000  2,925,000    3,430,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2018-B-2 10/30/2018 9/1/2048 5.00 22,310,000    22,310,000  22,310,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2019 10/16/2019 6/1/2042 3.00-5.00 30,845,000    26,855,000  27,965,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2022A 2/23/2022 4/1/2043 2.78 25,735,000    25,735,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2022B 3/11/2022 10/1/2031 1.75 6,380,000  5,095,000    5,730,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2022C 3/11/2022 12/1/2026 1.50 6,815,000  5,165,000    6,020,000 
 General Fee Revenue Bonds-Series 2023A 1/19/2023 4/1/2043 2.18 25,735,000    25,675,000  -  

   Total Bonds Payable 180,210,000  125,600,000   131,180,000    

Other Obligations:
 Lease obligations, 2.97% to 6.95% due annually through 2033 8,159,572    213,630    
 SBITA obligations, 3.25% to 8.50% due annually through 2029 1,230,300    1,470,465    

   Total Other Obligations 9,389,872    1,684,095    
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In conjunction with the issuance of the Series 2022-A Bond, the University executed a forward delivery agreement in 
2022 that provided the option for the University refund the Series 2022-A Bond on a tax-exempt basis between 
January 2, 2023 and April 1, 2023. The University elected to exercise its option to redeem all of the outstanding 
Series 2022-A Bond on January 19, 2023 with the issuance of its $25,735,000 General Fee Revenue Bond, Series 
2023-A (the “2023-A Bond”) resulting in savings with a net present value of $1,695,128. Proceeds of the Series 
2023-A Bond were used for the purpose of refunding and retiring the Series 2022-A Bond. 
 
Note 8 – Self-Insurance 
 
The University participates with other campuses in the System in a self-insurance program for general liability risks. 
The Board established a separate revocable trust fund for payment of these self-insurance claims under its risk 
retention program. Annual contributions are made to the consolidated trust fund, at an actuarially determined rate, to 
provide funding for the retained risk. The accompanying statements of net position include a reserve of $386,176 
and $407,702 for general liability for fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively.  
 
The University also maintains a self-insured health plan. During 2023, the University paid $28.00 and $20.67 per 
month per health insurance contract for administrative charges and stop loss coverage, respectively. The 
accompanying statements of net position include a self-insurance reserve of $1,627,072 and $1,792,821 for health 
insurance for 2023 and 2022, respectively. Annual contributions are made to the health plan, utilizing an actuarially 
determined rate, to provide funding for the reserve. The changes in the total reported self-insurance liabilities are 
summarized as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Note 9 – Employee Benefits  

 
Eligible employees of the University participate in the mandatory Teachers’ Retirement System of Alabama (“TRS”), 
a cost sharing, multiple-employer public retirement system designated as a defined benefit plan. In addition, eligible 
employees may elect to participate in a voluntary UA System 403(b) defined contribution retirement plan. Prior to 
fiscal year 2020, the plan offered eligible employees a choice between two record keepers, Teachers Insurance and 
Annuity Association (“TIAA”) and the Variable Annuity Life Insurance Company (“VALIC”). Effective in fiscal year 
2020, the System, in conjunction with its participating universities and with the Board’s approval, transitioned to a 
single record keeper with TIAA serving as sole-vendor for the plan.   
 
Defined Benefit Plan – TRS 
Plan description. The Teacher’s Retirement System of Alabama, a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee 
retirement plan, was established as of September 15, 1939, under the provisions of Act 419 of the Legislature of 
1939 for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other specified benefits for qualified persons employed 
by State-supported educational institutions. The responsibility for the general administration and operation of the 
TRS is vested in its Board of Control. The TRS Board of control consists of 15 trustees. The plan is administered by 
the Retirement Systems of Alabama (“RSA”). Title 16-Chapter 25 of the Code of Alabama grants the authority to 
establish and amend the benefit terms to the TRS Board of Control. The Plan issues a publicly available financial 
report that can be obtained at www.rsa-al.gov.  
 
Benefits provided. State law establishes retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and any ad hoc 
increase in postretirement benefits for the TRS. Members of the TRS are classified as either Tier 1 or Tier 2 plan 
members, contingent upon if their eligible service began prior to January 1, 2013. Benefits for TRS members vest 
after 10 years of creditable service. Tier 1 members who retire after age 60 with 10 years or more of creditable 
service or with 25 years of service (regardless of age) are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly 
for life unless there is a return to full-time employment with a TRS or Employees’ Retirement System (“ERS”) 
agency, or to temporary employment in excess of specified limits. Service and disability retirement benefits are 
based on a guaranteed minimum or a formula method, with the member receiving payment under the method that 
yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, Tier 1 members of the TRS are allowed 2.0125% of 
their average final compensation (highest 3 of last 10 years) for each year of service. 
 

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year 2,200,524$      2,175,880$   
Claims paid (13,016,580)    (14,342,567)  
Contributions and adjustments 12,829,305      14,367,211   
Balance, end of year 2,013,249$      2,200,524$   
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Act 377 of the Legislature of 2012 established a new tier of benefits (Tier 2) for members hired on or after 
January 1, 2013. Tier 2 members are eligible for retirement after age 62 with 10 years or more of creditable 
service and are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life unless there is a return to full-
time employment with a TRS or ERS agency, or to temporary employment in excess of specified limits. Service 
and disability retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed minimum or a formula method, with the member 
receiving payment under the method that yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, Tier 2 
members of the TRS are allowed 1.65% of their average final compensation (highest 5 of the last 10 years) for 
each year of service. Members are eligible for disability retirement if they have 10 years of creditable service, are 
currently in-service, and determined by the RSA Medical Board to be permanently incapacitated from further 
performance of duty.   

Preretirement death benefits are calculated and paid to the beneficiary based on the member’s age, service 
credit, employment status and eligibility for retirement. 

Contributions. Covered members of the TRS contributed 5% of earnable compensation to the TRS as required by 
statute until September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011, to September 30, 2012, covered members of the TRS 
were required by statute to contribute 7.25% of earnable compensation. Effective October 1, 2012, covered 
members of the TRS are required by statute to contribute 7.5% of earnable compensation. Tier 2 covered 
members of the TRS contribute 6% of earnable compensation to the TRS as required by statute. All regular 
employees of the University are members of the TRS with the exception of temporary employees. 

The University’s contractually required contribution rate for the year ended September 30, 2023 was 12.59% of 
annual pay for Tier 1 members and 11.44% of annual pay for Tier 2 members. The University’s contribution rate 
for the year ended September 30, 2022 was 12.43% of annual pay for Tier 1 members and 11.32% of annual pay 
for Tier 2 members. 

These required contribution rates are a percent of annual payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when 
combined with member contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by members during the 
year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. The following is a comparative 
presentation of contributions: 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions. At September 30, 2023 and 2022, the financial statements of the University reflected a 
liability of $237,205,000 and $146,300,000 for its proportionate share of the collective net pension liability, as 
prescribed by GASB 68. For the 2023 reported amounts the collective net pension liability was measured as of 
September 30, 2022 and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2021. 

2023 2022

University contributions 14,322,039$     14,777,322$     

Employee contributions 8,155,893        8,539,270        

     Total contributions 22,477,933$     23,316,592$     

2023 2023 2022 2022

Tier 1 Tier 2 Tier 1 Tier 2

University contribution regular rate 12.59% 11.44% 12.43% 11.32%

Employee contribution rate 7.50% 6.20% 7.50% 6.20%

Employee contribution law enforcement rate 8.50% 7.20% 8.50% 7.20%
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For the year ended September 30, 2022, the University recognized pension expense of $11.9 million. At Sep-
tember 30, 2022 the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relat-
ed to pensions from the following sources: 

For the year ended September 30, 2023, the University recognized pension expense of $29.7 million. At Sep-
tember 30, 2023 the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relat-
ed to pensions from the following sources: 

$14,658,669 of the amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from University contributions 
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year 
ending September 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows:  

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 5,214,000$         5,756,000$       

Changes of assumptions 10,764,000     -       
Net difference between projected and actual earnings  

on pension plan investments 47,599,000     -     

Changes in proportion and differences between Employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 4,180,000 3,878,000       

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 14,658,669 -       

Total 82,415,669$      9,634,000$       

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 6,789,000$    8,543,000$   

Changes of assumptions 15,392,000  -   
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

on pension plan investments - 34,612,000

Changes in proportion and differences between Employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 6,592,000 2,588,000 

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 14,781,769 -   

Total 43,554,769$        45,743,000$      

Year ending September 30:

2024 17,060,000$  

2025 14,291,000$  

2026 8,419,000$   

2027 18,353,000$  

2028 -$             

Thereafter -$             
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Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability as of September 30, 2022 was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of September 30, 2021, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in 
the measurement: 

The actuarial assumptions used in the actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2021, were based on the results 
of an investigation of the economic and demographic experience for the TRS based upon participant data as of 
September 30, 2020. The Board of Control accepted and approved these changes in September 2021, which 
became effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2021.  

Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 Teacher tables with the following adjustments, projected 
generationally using scale MP-202 adjusted by 66-2/3% beginning with year 2019.  

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal 
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net 
of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are 
combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return 
by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best 
estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are as follows: 

Discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.45%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current 
contribution rate and that the employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between 
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, components of the 
pension plan’s fiduciary net position were projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied 
to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Inflation 2.50%

Projected salary increases 3.25% - 5.00%

Investment rate of return* 7.45%

*Net of pension plan investment expense.

Asset Class Target Allocation

Long-Term 
Expected Rate of 

Return*

Fixed Income 15.00% 2.80%

U.S. Large Stocks 32.00% 8.00%

U.S. Mid Stocks 9.00% 10.00%

U.S. Small Stocks 4.00% 11.00%

International Developed Market Stocks 12.00% 9.50%

International Emerging Market Stocks 3.00% 11.00%

Alternatives 10.00% 9.00%

Real Estate 10.00% 6.50%

Cash Equivalents 5.00% 2.50%

Total 100.00%

*Includes assumed rate of inflation of 2.00%.

Group Membership Table
Set Forward (+) 
/ Set Back (-) Adjustment to Rates

Service Retirees
Teacher Retiree - 
Below Median

Male: +2
Female: +2

Male: 108% ages < 63, 96% ages > 67, Phasing down 63‐67

Female: 112% ages < 69, 98% ages > 74, Phasing down 69‐74

Beneficiaries
Contingent Survivor -
Below Median

Male: +2
Female: None None

Disabled Retirees Teacher Disability
Male: +8
Female: +3 None
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Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in 
the separately issued RSA Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022. 
The supporting actuarial information is included in the GASB Statement No. 67 Report for the TRS prepared as of 
September 30, 2022. The auditor’s report on the Schedule of Employer Allocations and Pension Amounts by 
Employer and accompanying notes detail by employer and in aggregate information needed to comply with GASB 
68. The additional financial and actuarial information is available at http://www.rsa-al.gov/index.php/employers/
financial-reports/gasb-68-reports/.

Defined Contribution Plans 
As previously noted, some employees participate in a voluntary UA System 403(b) defined contribution plan. In 
defined contribution plans, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed plus investment earnings. All employees, 
except those enrolled as students and regularly attending classes offered by a System university, are eligible to 
participate from the date of employment. Employer matching contributions are made for match-eligible participants 
by the System Office at a rate of 100% of elective deferrals up to a discretionary percentage of compensation per 
pay period, currently 5%. The University’s contribution is funded as it accrues and, along with that of employees, is 
immediately and fully vested.  The contribution for fiscal years 2023 and 2022, excluding amounts not eligible for 
matching, are summarized as follows: 

The University’s total salaries and wages subject to benefit plan participation for the years ended September 30, 
2022 and 2021 are summarized in the table below: 

Compensated Absences 

Certain University employees accrue vacation and sick leave at varying rates depending upon their years of continuous 
service and payroll classification, subject to maximum limitations. Upon termination of employment, employees are paid 
all unused accrued vacation at their regular rate of pay up to a designated maximum number of days. The statement of 
net position includes vacation pay and salary-related payments associated with vacation pay accruals of $5,136,565 
and $4,966,555 for fiscal years 2023 and 2022, respectively. There is no such accrual recognized for sick leave benefits 
because no terminal cash benefit is available to employees for accumulated sick leave.  

1% Decrease 
(6.45%)

Current Discount 
Rate (7.45%)

1% Increase 
(8.45%)

University's proportionate share of collective 
net pension liability (Dollar amounts in 
thousands) $306,934 $237,205 $178,472

2023 2022

University contributions 3,865,933$       3,849,426$   

Employee contributions 8,152,580        8,244,630     

Total contributions 12,018,513$     12,094,055$ 

2023 2022

Total Salaries and Wages 144,924,225$ 142,363,453$ 

Salaries and Wages of employees participating in:

     TRS 122,726,962$ 131,851,279$ 

     TIAA - CREF 88,860,426$   85,312,938$   

Sensitivity of the University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. The fol-
lowing table presents the University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount 
rate of 7.45%, as well as what the University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were cal-
culated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (6.45%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.45%) than the 
current rate (dollar amounts in thousands): 
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Note 10 – Post-Employment Benefits 

Post-employment health care benefits are offered to all employees who officially retire from the University through 
the Alabama Retired Education Employees’ Health Care Trust with TRS. TRS offers health care benefits through a 
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit health care plan administered by the Public Education Employee 
Health Insurance Board (“PEEHIP”). Retired employees age sixty-five or older who are eligible for Medicare must 
enroll in the Medicare Coordinated Plan under which Medicare is the primary insurer and PEEHIP becomes the 
secondary insurer. Most retirees elect to participate in the PEEHIP with TRS, in which case the retirees pay a portion 
of the PEEHIP premium and the University pays an allocation toward the cost of retiree coverage.  

Plan description. The Alabama Retired Education Employees’ Health Care Trust (Trust) is a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit postemployment healthcare plan that administers healthcare benefits to the retirees of 
participating state and local educational institutions. The Trust was established under the Alabama Retiree Health 
Care Funding Act of 2007 which authorized and directed the Public Education Employees’ Health Insurance Board 
(Board) to create an irrevocable trust to fund postemployment healthcare benefits to retirees participating in PEEHIP. 
Active and retiree health insurance benefits are paid through the Public Education Employees’ Health Insurance Plan 
(PEEHIP). In accordance with GASB, the Trust is considered a component unit of the State of Alabama (State) and 
is included in the State’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report. 

The PEEHIP was established in 1983 pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Alabama 1975, Title 16, Chapter 25A 
(Act 83-455) to provide a uniform plan of health insurance for active and retired employees of state and local 
educational institutions which provide instruction at any combination of grades K-14 (collectively, eligible employees), 
and to provide a method for funding the benefits related to the plan. The four-year universities participate in the plan 
with respect to their retired employees, and are eligible and may elect to participate in the plan with respect to their 
active employees. Responsibility for the establishment of the health insurance plan and its general administration 
and operations is vested in the Board. The Board is a corporate body for purposes of management of the health 
insurance plan.  

The Code of Alabama 1975, Section 16-25A-4 provides the Board with the authority to amend the benefit provisions 
in order to provide reasonable assurance of stability in future years for the plan. All assets of the PEEHIP are held in 
trust for the payment of health insurance benefits. The Teachers’ Retirement System of Alabama (TRS) has been 
appointed as the administrator of the PEEHIP and, consequently, serves as the administrator of the Trust. 

Benefits provided. PEEHIP offers a basic hospital medical plan to active members and non-Medicare eligible 
retirees. Benefits include inpatient hospitalization for a maximum of 365 days without a dollar limit, inpatient 
rehabilitation, outpatient care, physician services, and prescription drugs. 

Active employees and non-Medicare eligible retirees who do not have Medicare eligible dependents can enroll in a 
health maintenance organization (HMO) in lieu of the basic hospital medical plan. The HMO includes hospital 
medical benefits, dental benefits, vision benefits, and an extensive formulary. However, participants in the HMO are 
required to receive care from a participating physician in the HMO plan.  

The PEEHIP offers four optional plans (Hospital Indemnity, Cancer, Dental, and Vision) that may be selected in 
addition to or in lieu of the basic hospital medical plan or HMO. The Hospital Indemnity Plan provides a per-day 
benefit for hospital confinement, maternity, intensive care, cancer, and convalescent care. The Cancer Plan covers 
cancer disease only and benefits are provided regardless of other insurance. Coverage includes a per-day benefit for 
each hospital confinement related to cancer. The Dental Plan covers diagnostic and preventative services, as well as 
basic and major dental services. Diagnostic and preventative services include oral examinations, teeth cleaning, x-
rays, and emergency office visits. Basic and major services include fillings, general aesthetics, oral surgery not 
covered under a Group Medical Program, periodontics, endodontics, dentures, bridgework, and crowns. Dental 
services are subject to a maximum of $1,250 per year for individual coverage and $1,000 per person per year for 
family coverage. The Vision Plan covers annual eye examinations, eye glasses, and contact lens prescriptions. 
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PEEHIP members may opt to elect the PEEHIP Supplemental Plan as their hospital medical coverage in lieu of the 
PEEHIP Hospital Medical Plan. The PEEHIP Supplemental Plan provides secondary benefits to the member’s 
primary plan provided by another employer. Only active and non-Medicare retiree members and dependents are 
eligible for the PEEHIP Supplemental Plan. There is no premium required for this plan, and the plan covers most 
out-of-pocket expenses not covered by the primary plan. The plan cannot be used as a supplement to Medicare, 
the PEEHIP Hospital Medical Plan, or the State or Local Governmental Plans administered by the State Employees’ 
Insurance Board (SEIB).  

Effective January 1, 2017, Medicare eligible members and Medicare eligible dependents covered on a retiree 
contract were enrolled in the United Healthcare (UHC) Group Medicare Advantage plan for PEEHIP retirees. 
Effective January 1, 2020, Humana replaced the UHC contract. The MAPDP plan is fully insured by Humana and 
members are able to have all of their Medicare Part A, Part B, and Part D (prescription drug coverage) in one 
convenient plan. With the MAPDP plan for PEEHIP, retirees can continue to see their same providers with no 
interruption and see any doctor who accepts Medicare on a national basis. Retirees have the same benefits in and 
out-of-network and there is no additional retiree cost share if a retiree uses an out-of-network provider and no 
balance billing from the provider. 

Contributions. The Code of Alabama 1975, Section 16-25A-8 and the Code of Alabama 1975, Section, 16-25A-8.1 
provide the Board with the authority to set the contribution requirements for plan members and the authority to set 
the employer contribution requirements for each required class, respectively. Additionally, the Board is required to 
certify to the Governor and the Legislature, the amount, as a monthly premium per active employee, necessary to 
fund the coverage of active and retired member benefits for the following fiscal year. The Legislature then sets the 
premium rate in the annual appropriation bill.  

For employees who retired after September 30, 2005, but before January 1, 2012, the employer contribution of the 
health insurance premium set forth by the Board for each retiree class is reduced by 2% for each year of service 
less than 25 and increased by 2% percent for each year of service over 25 subject to adjustment by the Board for 
changes in Medicare premium costs required to be paid by a retiree. In no case does the employer contribution of 
the health insurance premium exceed 100% of the total health insurance premium cost for the retiree.  

For employees who retired after December 31, 2011, the employer contribution to the health insurance premium set 
forth by the Board for each retiree class is reduced by 4% for each year of service less than 25 and increased by 
2% for each year over 25, subject to adjustment by the Board for changes in Medicare premium costs required to 
be paid by a retiree. In no case does the employer contribution of the health insurance premium exceed 100% of 
the total health insurance premium cost for the retiree.  

For employees who retired after December 31, 2011, who are not covered by Medicare, regardless of years of 
service, the employer contribution to the health insurance premium set forth by the Board for each retiree class is 
reduced by a percentage equal to 1% multiplied by the difference between the Medicare entitlement age and the 
age of the employee at the time of retirement as determined by the Board. This reduction in the employer 
contribution ceases upon notification to the Board of the attainment of Medicare coverage.  

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related 
to OPEB. At September 30, 2023, the financial statements of the University reflected a liability of $13.3 million for its 
proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, as prescribed by GASB 75. The net OPEB liability was measured as 
of September 30, 2022 and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2021. The University's proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on a 
projection of the University’s long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the projected 
contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At September 30, 2022, the University’s 
proportion was 0.76%, which was a decrease of 0.26% from its proportion measured as of September 30, 2021. 
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For the year ended September 30, 2023, the University recognized OPEB expense of ($4.5 million). At September 
30, 2023 the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
from the following sources:  

For the year ended September 30, 2022, the University recognized an OPEB expense of $2.3 million. At Sep-
tember 30, 2022 the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relat-
ed to OPEB from the following sources:  

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 610,133$   26,897,766$          

Changes of assumptions 10,790,627            19,363,456    

Net difference between projected and actual earnings     

on OPEB plan investments 1,672,991 -    

Changes in proportion and differences between Employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 18,602,348 18,568,020    

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,599,046 -    

Total 33,275,145$            64,829,242$          

Deferred Outflows of 
Resources

Deferred Inflows of 
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience 1,251,196$              18,397,844$          

Changes of assumptions 18,833,515            20,497,627    
Net difference between projected and actual earnings     

on OPEB plan investments - 1,649,583

Changes in proportion and differences between Employer

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 25,041,653 4,151,294 

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,459,653 -    

Total 46,586,017$            44,696,348$          
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$1.59 million reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from the University's 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the 
year ending September 30, 2024. 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be 
recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 

Actuarial assumptions. The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30, 
2021, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:  

The rates of mortality are based on the Pub-2010 Public Mortality Plans Mortality Tables, adjusted generation-
ally based on scale MP-2020, with an adjustment of 66-2/3% to the table beginning in year 2019. The mortali-
ty rates are adjusted forward and/or back depending on the plan and group covered, as shown in the table 
below: 

Year ending September 30:

2024 (7,211,817)$     

2025 (7,429,374)$     

2026 (1,743,665)$     

2027 (3,413,182)$     

2028 (7,727,171)$     

Thereafter (5,627,934)$     

Group Membership Table
Set Forward (+) 
/ Set Back (-) Adjustment to Rates

Active Members
Teacher Employee
Below Median None 65%

Service Retirees
Teacher Below 
Median

Male: +2
Female: +2

Male: 108% ages < 63, 96% ages > 67, Phasing down 63‐67

Female: 112% ages < 69, 98% ages > 74, Phasing down 69‐74

Disabled Retirees Teacher Disability
Male: +8
Female: +3 None

Beneficiaries

Teacher Continengent

Surivor Below

Median

Male: +2

Female: None None

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases1 5.00%-3.25%

Long-Term Investment Rate of Return2 7.00%

Municipal Bond Index Rate at the Measurement Date 4.40%

Municipal Bond Index Rate at the Prior Measurement Date 2.29%

Projected Year for Fiduciary Net Position (FNP) to be Depleted N/A

Single Equivalent Interest Rate at the Measurement Date 7.00%

Single Equivalent Interest Rate at the Prior Measurement Date 3.97%

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate

Pre-Medicare Eligible 6.50%

Medicare Eligible **

Ultimate Trend Rate

Pre-Medicare Eligible 4.50% in 2031

Medicare Eligible 4.50% in 2027

2Compounded annually, net of investment expense, and includes inflation.

1Includes 2.75% w age inf lation.

**Initial Medicare claims are set based on scheduled increases through plan year 2025.
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The decremental assumptions used in the valuation were selected based on the actuarial experience study 
prepared as of September 30, 2020, submitted to and adopted by the Teachers’ Retirement System of 
Alabama Board on September 13, 2021. 

The remaining actuarial assumptions (e.g., initial per capita costs, health care cost trends, rate of plan 
participation, rates of plan election, etc.) were based on the September 30, 2021 valuation. 

The long-term expected return on plan assets is to be reviewed as part of regular experience studies prepared 
every five years, in conjunction with similar analysis for the Teachers’ Retirement System of Alabama. Several 
factors should be considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption, including long-term 
historical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net of investment expense and 
inflation), as developed for each major asset class. These ranges should be combined to produce the long-
term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation 
percentage and then adding expected inflation. The assumption is intended to be a long-term assumption and 
is not expected to change absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation 
assumption, or a fundamental change in the market that alters expected returns in future years. 

The long-term expected rate of return on the OPEB plan investments is determined based on the allocation of 
assets by asset class and by the mean and variance of real returns. 

The target asset allocation and best estimates of expected geometric real rates of return for each major asset 
class is summarized below: 

Discount rate. The discount rate (also known as the Single Equivalent Interest Rate (SEIR), as described by 
GASB 74) used to measure the total OPEB liability was 7.00%. Premiums paid to the Public Education Em-
ployees’ Health Insurance Board for active employees shall include an amount to partially fund the cost of 
coverage for retired employees. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 
that plan contributions will be made at the current contribution rates. Each year, the State specifies the 
monthly employer rate that participating school systems must contribute for each active employee. Currently, 
the monthly employer rate is $800 per active member for participating employers. Approximately, 15.257% of 
the employer contributions were used to assist in funding retiree benefit payments in 2022 and it is assumed 
that the 15.257% will increase or decrease at the same rate as expected benefit payments for the closed 
group with a cap of 20.00%. It is assumed the $800 rate will increase with inflation at 2.50% starting in 2027. 
Retiree benefit payments for University members are paid by the Universities and are not included in the cash 
flow projections. The discount rate determination will use a municipal bond rate to the extent the trust is pro-
jected to run out of money before all benefits are paid. Projected future benefit payments for all current plan 
members are projected through 2120.  

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return*

Fixed Income 30.00% 4.40%

U.S. Large Stocks 38.00% 8.00%

U.S. Mid Stocks 8.00% 10.00%

U.S. Small Stocks 4.00% 11.00%

International Developed Market Stocks 15.00% 9.50%

Cash 5.00% 1.50%

Total 100.00%

* Geometric mean, includes 2.5% inflation
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Sensitivity of the University's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare 
cost trend rates. The following table reflects the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability of 
the Trust, as prescribed by GASB 75, and is calculated using the current healthcare trend rate, as well as 
what the net OPEB liability would be if calculated using one percentage point lower or one percentage point 
higher than the current rate: 

The following table reflects the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability of the Trust, as pre-
scribed by GASB 75, and is calculated using the discount rate of 7.00%, as well as what the net OPEB liabil-
ity would be if calculated using one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the current 
rate: 

OPEB plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is lo-
cated in the Trust’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2022. The supporting ac-
tuarial information is included in the GASB Statement No. 74 Report for PEEHIP prepared as of September 
30, 2022. Additional financial and actuarial information is available at www.rsa-al.gov. 

Note 11 – Federal Direct Student Loan Program 

The Federal Direct Student Loan Program (“FDSLP”) was established under the Higher Education Act of 
1965, as amended in the Student Loan Reform Act of 1993. The FDSLP enables an eligible student or parent 
to obtain a loan to pay for the student’s cost of attendance directly through the University rather than through 
private lenders. The University began participation in the FDSLP on July 1, 1995. As a university qualified to 
originate loans, the University is responsible for handling the complete loan process, including funds manage-
ment as well as promissory note functions. The University is not responsible for collection of these loans. Dur-
ing the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2022, the University disbursed $24,310,983 and $26,954,346, 
respectively, under the FDSLP.  

1% Decrease
(5.50% decreasing to 

3.50% for pre-Medicare, 
Known decreasing to 
3.50% for Medicare 

Eligible)

Current Healthcare 
Trend Rate

(6.50% decreasing to 
4.50% for pre-Medicare, 

Known decreasing to 
4.50% for Medicare 

Eligible)

1% Increase
(7.50% decreasing to 

5.50% for pre-
Medicare, Known 

decreasing to 5.50% for 
Medicare Eligible)

Net OPEB Liability 10,087,764$                 13,303,095$                17,246,395$   

1% Decrease 
(6.00%)

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.00%)
1% Increase 

(8.00%)

Net OPEB Liability 16,447,312$     13,303,095$   10,663,618$          



FINANCIAL REPORT 2023          57 

  THE UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA IN HUNTSVILLE 

Note 12 – Contracts and Grants  

As of September 30, 2023 and 2022, the University was awarded approximately $97.4 million and $95.1 million, 
respectively, in contracts and grants which have not been expended. These awards, which represent 
commitments of sponsors to provide funds for specific research, training, and service projects, have not been 
reflected in the financial statements. 

Note 13 – Operating Expenses by Function 

Operating expenses by functional classification for the years ended September 2023 and 2022 are summarized 
as follows: 

Salaries Supplies Scholarships
and Fringe and and

Wages Benefits Services Depreciation Fellowships Total

Instruction 45,300,813$   18,087,328$ 5,591,959$    -$    -$  68,980,100$   
Research 62,389,013   25,221,792   34,304,183  - - 121,914,988 
Public service 1,726,543  673,493   1,467,224     - -                   3,867,260       
Academic support 8,427,457  3,261,679   4,404,906     - -   16,094,042 
Student services 8,480,944  3,342,978   6,484,334     - -   18,308,256 
Institutional support 12,029,228   5,793,909   5,851,321     - -   23,674,458 
Operations and maintenance of plant 4,474,871  2,135,593   9,121,920     - -   15,732,384 
Scholarships and fellowships -    -  -   -    4,212,336    4,212,336   
Auxiliary enterprises 2,095,358  875,018   4,839,256     -    -   7,809,632   
Depreciation -    -  -   20,326,789   - 20,326,789 

Total Operating Expenses 144,924,227$ 59,391,790$ 72,065,103$  20,326,789$ 4,212,336$    300,920,245$ 

Salaries Supplies Scholarships
and Fringe and and

Wages Benefits Services Depreciation Fellowships Total

Instruction 45,339,570$   15,406,165$ 5,308,212$    -$    -$  66,053,947$   
Research 61,031,715   18,698,727   36,750,873  - - 116,481,315 
Public service 2,236,558  672,061   2,921,421     - -                   5,830,040       
Academic support 7,077,175  2,233,701   3,770,539     - -   13,081,415 
Student services 8,590,660  2,934,727   8,628,889     - -   20,154,276 
Institutional support 11,559,657   4,190,864   5,090,002     - -   20,840,523 
Operations and maintenance of plant 4,076,444  1,655,057   9,250,841     - -   14,982,342 
Scholarships and fellowships -    -  -   -    12,911,599    12,911,599    
Auxiliary enterprises 2,451,674  524,303   6,851,191     -    -   9,827,168   
Depreciation -    -  -   19,336,020   - 19,336,020 

Total Operating Expenses 142,363,453$ 46,315,605$ 78,571,968$  19,336,020$ 12,911,599$  299,498,645$ 

 Year Ended September 30, 2023

 Year Ended September 30, 2022
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Note 14 – Contingencies and Commitments 

The University has sovereign immunity and is therefore, in the opinion of System Counsel, immune to ordinary 
tort actions. The University has consistently been dismissed from lawsuits on the basis of the sovereign 
immunity doctrine. That doctrine also protects the University from vicarious liability arising from the negligence of 
its employees. As a matter of policy, the University has chosen to indemnify its employees through a self-insured 
trust fund against liability arising from the performance of their official duties. There are some exceptions to the 
sovereign immunity doctrine, most notably in federal court cases arising under the federal constitution or federal 
statutes. The University is engaged in various legal actions in the ordinary course of business. Management 
does not believe the ultimate outcome of those actions will have a material adverse effect on the financial 
statements. However, the settlement of legal actions is subject to inherent uncertainties and it is possible that 
such outcomes could differ materially from management’s current expectations.  

The University has contracted for planning and design services on the 2024 Campus Master Plan. As of 
September 30, 2023, the estimated remaining costs to complete the design efforts was $630,180 and is to be 
funded from University reserve funds. 

The University has contracted for construction services on the Campus Lakes Dredging and Site Improvements 
Phase I & II, Salmon Library Emergency Generator Systems, Shelby Center Site Wells, von Braun Research 
Hall SCIF, and campus roof replacement projects. As of September 2023, the estimated remaining cost to 
complete these projects was $420 thousand, $584 thousand, $17 thousand, $1.2 million, and $829 thousand, 
respectively, and is to be funded form a combination of University bond proceeds, University reserve funds, and 
state appropriations. 

Note 15 – Recently Issued Pronouncements  

The GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, in May 2019. The objectives of this Statement 
are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in practice 
associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obliga-
tions, and (3) related note disclosures. This statement is effective for reporting periods beginning after December 
15, 2021. The University has determined there was no material impact from its adoption of GASB 91. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates, in March 2020. The objective of 
this Statement is to address those and other accounting and financial reporting implications that result from the 
replacement of the IBOR. The requirements of this Statement, except for paragraphs 11b, 13, and 14 are effec-
tive for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2020. The requirement in paragraph 11b is effective for report-
ing periods ending after December 31, 2021. The requirements in paragraphs 13 and 14 are effective for fiscal 
years periods beginning after June 15, 2021, and all reporting periods thereafter. The University has determined 
there was no material impact from its adoption of GASB 93. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangements, in March 2020. The objective of this Statement is to improve financial reporting by addressing 
issues related to public-private partnership arrangements. This Statement also provides guidance for accounting 
and financial reporting for availability payment arrangements. The statement is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after June 15, 2022. The University has determined there was no material impact from its adoption of 
GASB 94. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, in May 2020. 
The objective of this Statement is to provide guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for subscription-
based information technology arrangements for government end users. The statement is effective for reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2022. Refer to Note 1 for additional information regarding the impact of UAH’s 
adoption of GASB Statement No. 96. 
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The GASB issued Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022, in April 2022. The objectives of this Statement are to 
enhance comparability in accounting and financial reporting and to improve the consistency of authoritative 
literature by addressing (1) practice issues that have been identified during implementation and application of 
certain GASB Statements and (2) accounting and financial reporting for financial guarantees. The 
requirements related to extension of the use of LIBOR, accounting for SNAP distributions, disclosures of 
nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future revenues by pledging governments, clarification of certain 
provisions in Statement 34, as amended, and terminology updates related to Statement 53 and Statement 63 
were effective upon issuance. The requirements related to leases, PPPs, and SBITAs are effective for fiscal 
years beginning after June 15, 2022, and all reporting periods thereafter. The requirements related to financial 
guarantees and the classification and reporting of derivative instruments within the scope of Statement 53 are 
effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023, and all reporting periods thereafter. UAH has 
determined there was no material impact from its adoption of the portions of GASB Statement No. 99 which 
were effective immediately and for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022, and UAH is evaluating whether 
there will be any material impact from its adoption of the portions of this Statement effective for reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2023. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections - an amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 62, in June 2022. The primary objective of this Statement is to enhance accounting and 
financial reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide more 
understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or assessing 
accountability. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2023, 
and all reporting periods thereafter. As GASB Statement No. 100 is based on an unknown possible future 
event, materiality cannot be determined. UAH will continue to evaluate for any potential impact in the future.  

The GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, in June 2022. The objective of this Statement 
is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and 
measurement guidance for compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and 
measurement guidance under a unified model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. The 
requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. UAH is 
evaluating whether there will be any material impact from its adoption of GASB Statement No. 101. 

The GASB issued Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures, in January 2024. The objective of this 
statement is to provide  users of government financial statements with essential information about risks 
related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or constraints. The requirements of this 
Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2024, and all reporting periods thereafter. 
UAH is evaluating whether there will be any material impact from its adoption of GASB Statement No. 102. 



60     FINANCIAL REPORT 2023       

THE UNIVERSITY OF ALABAMA IN HUNTSVILLE 

The University of Alabama in Huntsville 
Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited) 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Employer's proportion of the collective net 
   pension liability 1.526341% 1.556525% 1.556335% 1.459237% 1.518226% 1.500009% 1.525333% 1.532529% 1.609851%

Employer's proportionate share of the 
  collective net pension liability $237,205,000 $146,630,000 $192,513,000 $161,346,000 $150,951,000 $147,428,000 $165,132,000 $160,390,000 $146,248,000

Employer's covered payroll 
  during measurement period $131,851,279 $115,212,970 $112,135,896 $105,412,352 $103,210,401 $100,416,137 $98,670,645 $97,998,750 $97,032,526

Employer's proportionate share of the 
  collective net pension liability as 

   percentage of its covered payroll 179.90% 127.27% 171.68% 153.06% 146.26% 146.82% 167.36% 163.67% 150.72%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
   of the total collective pension liability 62.21% 76.44% 67.72% 69.85% 72.29% 71.50% 67.93% 67.51% 71.01%

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Contractually Required Contribution $14,658,669 $14,781,769 $13,604,773 $13,402,675 $12,186,202 $12,184,536 $11,711,569 $11,474,249 $11,311,261

Contributions in relation to the 
   contractually required contribution ($14,658,669) ($14,781,769) ($13,604,773) ($13,402,675) ($12,186,202) ($12,184,536) ($11,711,569) ($11,474,249) ($11,311,261)

Contribution deficiency (excess) -   -   -   -   -  -   -   -   -  

University's covered payroll $122,726,962 $131,851,279 $115,212,970 $112,135,896 $105,412,352 $103,210,401 $100,416,137 $98,670,645 $97,998,750

Contributions as a percentage of 
   covered payroll 11.94% 11.21% 11.81% 11.95% 11.56% 11.81% 11.66% 11.63% 11.54%

Notes to Schedules

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2021, the measurement period is  October 1, 2019 ‐ September 30, 2020.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2022, the measurement period is  October 1, 2020 ‐ September 30, 2021.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2023, the measurement period is  October 1, 2021 ‐ September 30, 2022.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2015, the measurement period is  October 1, 2013 ‐ September 30, 2014.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2016, the measurement period is  October 1, 2014 ‐ September 30, 2015.

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Collective Net Pension Liability

Teachers' Retirement Systems of Alabama

Schedule of University Contributions

Teachers' Retirement System of Alabama

Employer's covered payroll: The payroll  on which contributions  to a pension plan are based.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2018, the measurement period is  October 1, 2016 ‐ September 30, 2017.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2017, the measurement period is  October 1, 2015 ‐ September 30, 2016.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2019, the measurement period is  October 1, 2017 ‐ September 30, 2018.

Measurement period: For fiscal  year 2020, the measurement period is  October 1, 2018 ‐ September 30, 2019.
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2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Employer's proportion of the net 
   OPEB liability 0.763471% 1.023499% 0.946468% 0.617266% 0.686596% 0.724951%

Employer's proportionate share of the 
   net OPEB liability $13,303,095 $52,882,284 $61,424,456 $23,288,013 $56,429,447 $53,845,219

Employer's covered payroll 
   during measurement period $131,851,279 $115,212,970 $112,135,896 $105,412,352 $103,210,401 $100,416,137

Employer's proportionate share of the 
   net OPEB liability as a percentage
   of its covered payroll 10.09% 45.90% 54.78% 22.09% 54.67% 53.62%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage 
   of the total OPEB liability 48.39% 27.11% 19.80% 28.14% 14.81% 15.37%

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Contractually required contribution $1,599,046 $1,459,653 $1,664,437 $1,876,852 $1,753,547 $1,685,254

Contributions in relation to the 
   contractually required contribution ($1,599,046) ($1,459,653) ($1,664,437) ($1,876,852) ($1,753,547) ($1,685,254)

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$             

University's covered payroll $122,726,962 $131,851,279 $115,212,970 $112,135,896 $105,412,352 $103,210,401
Contributions as a percentage of 
   covered payroll 1.30% 1.11% 1.44% 1.67% 1.66% 1.63%

Notes to Schedules

Measurement period: For fiscal year 2018, the measurement period is  October 1, 2016 ‐ September 30, 2017.

Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Collective Net OPEB Liability
Alabama Retired Education Employees' Health Care Trust

Schedule of the University's Contributions

Alabama Retired Education Employees' Health Care Trust

Employer's covered payroll: The payroll on which contributions  to a pension plan are based.

Measurement period: For fiscal year 2020, the measurement period is  October 1, 2018 ‐ September 30, 2019.

Measurement period: For fiscal year 2019, the measurement period is  October 1, 2017 ‐ September 30, 2018.

Measurement period: For fiscal year 2021, the measurement period is  October 1, 2019 ‐ September 30, 2020.

Measurement period: For fiscal year 2022, the measurement period is  October 1, 2020 ‐ September 30, 2021.

Measurement period: For fiscal year 2023, the measurement period is  October 1, 2021 ‐ September 30, 2022.
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